

BP/16/05

On the Effect of IMF Data Standards Initiatives: Do They Affect Foreign Direct Investment, Exchange Rate Volatility, and Sovereign Borrowing Costs?

Carlos de Resende and Franz Loyola

Address. 700 19th Street, N.W., Washington D.C. 20431, U.S.A.

© 2016 International Monetary Fund

BP/16/05

IEO Background Paper

Independent Evaluation Office of the International Monetary Fund

On the Effect of IMF Data Standards Initiatives: Do They Affect Foreign Direct Investment, Exchange Rate Volatility, and Sovereign Borrowing Costs?

Prepared by Carlos de Resende and Franz Loyola^{*}

February 25, 2016

The views expressed in this Background Paper are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent those of the IEO, the IMF, or IMF policy. Background Papers report analyses related to the work of the IEO and are published to elicit comments and to further debate.

JEL Classification Numbers: F2, F3, F4

Keywords: data initiatives, capital flows, sovereign borrowing spreads and yields, exchange rate volatility

Authors' E-Mail Address: cderesende@imf.org; floyola@imf.org

^{*} The authors acknowledge the helpful comments and suggestions from colleagues at the IEO—Miguel de Las Casas, Francesco Luna, Ruben Lamdany, Thomas Reichmann, Louellen Stedman, and Nancy Wagner—as well as from Camelia Minoiu and Sam Ouliaris, who kindly agreed to review the econometric work done in this paper. Any remaining errors are the sole responsibility of the authors.

Contents	Page
Abbreviations	V
Executive Summary	vii
I. Introduction	1
II. IMF Data Standards Initiatives and Transparency	3
III The SDDS and Capital Inflows	4
A. Hashimoto and Wacker (2012)	4
B. Data Issues	5
C. Robustness Checks	8
D. Does SDDS Increase FDI Flows?	11
E. Summary	15
IV. The Reserve Template and the Volatility of Exchange Rates	15
A. Cady and Gonzalez-Garcia (2007)	17
B. Data Issues	18
C. KODUSTNESS CHECKS D. Daga the Degence Templete Deduce Exchange Date Veletility?	19 22
E Summary	22
E. Summary	
V. IMF Data Initiatives and Sovereign Bond Spreads	
A. Cady and Pellechio (2006).	
B. Data Issues	28
C. Robustness Checks	29
D. Do IMF Data Dissemination Initiatives Help Reduce Sovereign Borrowing	
Costs?	32
E. Summary	35
VI. Event Studies	35
VII. Assessment and Conclusions	39
Einnen	
riguies	5
2 Average GDP Inflation Pate	
3 HW's Measure of FDI Inflows	0
	/
Tables	
1. Relationship Between Participation in IMF Data Initiatives and Opacity	3
2. Unit Root Tests (HW's sample: 70 countries)	8
3. Sensitivity of HW's Results to Time Trends and Global Factors	9
4. Placebo Tests: Sensitivity of HW's Results to False SDDS Dates	11
5. Unit Root Tests on FDI—Updated Sample	13
6. Estimation Results—FDI (Percent of GDP)	16

7. CGG's Estimated Total Effect of RT on Exchange Rate Volatility	18
8. Placebo Tests: Sensitivity of CGG's Results to False RT Adoption Dates	20
9. Robustness to Alternative Set of Control Variables and Sample	21
10. Estimation Results—Exchange Rate Volatility	25
11. Effect of RT on Exchange Rate Volatility at Different Values of RA	26
12. Placebo Tests: Sensitivity of CP's Results to False GDDS and SDDS Dates	31
13. Robustness to Alternative Set of Control Variables and Sample	32
14(a). Estimation Results—Spreads	36
14(b). Estimation Results—Yields	37
15. Event Studies Estimated Values of λ	40
Annexes	
1. Data	46
2. Detection of Outliers	50
References	43

ABBREVIATIONS

ADF	Augmented Dickey-Fuller
AE	Advanced economies
AR	Auto-regressive
CBOE	Chicago Board Options Exchange
CGG	Cady and Gonzalez-Garcia
СР	Cady and Pellechio
EME	Emerging market economies
FDI	Foreign direct investment
FFR	Federal Funds Rate
GDDS	General Data Dissemination System
GDP	Gross national product
GMM	General Method of Moments
HP	Hodrick-Prescott filter
HW	Hashimoto and Wacker
ICRG	International Country Risk Guide
IEO	Independent Evaluation Office
IFS	International Financial Statistics
IIF	Institute of International Finance
IMF	International Monetary Fund
IPS	Im, Pesaran, and Shin
LIC	Low-income countries
LLC	Levin, Lin, and Chu
LYS	Levy-Yeyati and Sturzenegger
NFA	Net foreign assets
OLS	Ordinary least squares
PPP	Purchasing power parity
RA	Reserve adequacy
RT	Reserves Template
SDDS	Special Data Dissemination Standard
TED	T-Bill and Eurodollar
VIX	Market volatility index published by the CBOE
WB	World Bank
WDI	World Development Indicators
WEO	World Economic Outlook

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The IMF's data dissemination initiatives—in particular, the Special Data Dissemination Standard (SDDS) and the General Data Dissemination System (GDDS)—are designed to help participating countries improve their data dissemination practices and, in the process, are expected to increase transparency about the macroeconomic and financial situation of these countries, reducing noise-to-signal ratios for investors and improving the functioning of markets.

IMF research suggests that this channel, when a country participates in these initiatives, can have significant beneficial effects on selected international finance variables, including foreign direct investment inflows (FDI), exchange rate volatility, and sovereign bond spreads or yields. For example:

- Hashimoto and Wacker (2012) found that subscription to the SDDS increased (gross) FDI inflows by about 60 percent;
- Cady and Gonzales-Garcia (2007) found that exchange rate volatility decreased by 20 percent in 48 countries upon the adoption of the SDDS "reserves template" for the dissemination of data on foreign liquidity positions; and
- Cady and Pellechio (2006) report that subscription to the SDDS and GDDS helped to reduce launch spreads on the sovereign bonds of 26 emerging market economies, by an average of 20 percent and 8 percent, respectively.

This paper evaluates the robustness of these findings, relying on both the same raw dataset originally used by IMF researchers and an updated dataset that incorporates revisions, additional countries, and more recent periods. The data, adjusted for potential problems that have been previously overlooked (e.g., non-seasonally adjusted quarterly data, nonstationarity, and different types of measurement errors), were subjected to both the same econometric models originally used by the IMF researchers and to models with different specifications. The alternative specifications control for additional factors such as time dependency, global, and domestic factors that were not always controlled for in the earlier research.

Our results indicate that the IMF research findings regarding the effects of the data standards are not robust. These findings were often based on problematic transformations of the data whose removal or correction substantially changes the original conclusions. They are also not robust to changes in the sample. In some instances, they reflect insufficient consideration of the effect of factors other than IMF data initiatives—such as global developments that may affect all countries, or time dependency. One conclusion—that SDDS helps to reduce exchange rate volatility—seems to be the result of a misinterpretation of the original results. All these problems occur separately or in combination. Event studies confirm the lack of robustness of the IMF research findings on the effects of the data standards.

Moreover, the paper does not find convincing evidence that subscribing to IMF data standards have a strong and clear effect on (the lack of) transparency in terms of availability of information. This finding casts doubt on the main channel through which these data initiatives supposedly work, and it complements the results of the robustness checks.

Our findings do not, however, imply that IMF data standards initiatives are not effective in other dimensions, which are documented in "Behind the Scenes with Data at the IMF: An IEO Evaluation" by the Independent Evaluation Office (IEO, 2016).

I. INTRODUCTION

1. IMF research suggests that a country's subscription to IMF data standards initiatives more specifically, the Special Data Dissemination Standard (SDDS) and the General Data Dissemination System (GDDS)—can have significant beneficial effects on selected international finance variables by increasing transparency about a country's economic situation and reducing noise-to-signal ratios for investors.¹

2. For example, Hashimoto and Wacker (2012) find that subscription to the SDDS increases a country's (gross) foreign direct investment (FDI) inflows by about 60 percent. In addition, Cady and Gonzales-Garcia (2007) document a 20 percent decrease in exchange rate volatility in 48 advanced, emerging-market, and low-income countries upon the adoption of the SDDS "reserves template" (RT) for the dissemination of data on foreign liquidity positions. Cady and Pellechio (2006) report that subscription to the SDDS and GDDS helped to reduce launch spreads on the sovereign bonds of 26 emerging market economies by an average of 20 percent and 8 percent, respectively.

3. As part of the evaluation "Behind the Scenes with Data at the IMF: An IEO Evaluation," conducted by the Independent Evaluation Office (IEO, 2016), this paper assesses the robustness of the IMF research findings on the effects of SDDS and GDDS subscription. If confirmed, these findings have important policy implications for both the IMF and its membership.

4. First, they would corroborate the IMF's efforts on such initiatives, with implications for the allocation of its limited resources to provide and manage such data standards initiatives, within its Statistics Department (STA). Since other programs in STA—such as Reports on the Observance of Standards and Codes (ROSCs), which are highly appreciated by the IMF membership (de Las Casas and Monasterski, 2016)—compete for the same pool of resources, understanding the benefits of SDDS and GDDS to the membership is important to evaluate whether STA resources are being efficiently allocated.

5. Second, the favorable IMF research findings on the effects of data dissemination initiatives provide a strong incentive for member countries, especially emerging-market and low-income economies, to invest in their data and statistics capabilities in order to qualify for and join IMF data standards initiatives.²

¹ For an overview of the IMF's data standards initiatives, see <u>http://dsbb.imf.org/Pages/SDDS/Overview.aspx</u> and <u>http://dsbb.imf.org/Pages/GDDS/WhatIsGDDS.aspx</u>. For IMF research related to these initiatives, see <u>http://dsbb.imf.org/Pages/SDDS/Home.aspx</u>.

² Subscription to both the SDDS and GDDS is voluntary. For the SDDS, it requires a commitment to observe the standard—on factors related to data coverage, periodicity, and timeliness; access by the public; and integrity and quality of the disseminated data. The GDDS requires its participants to use its framework for statistical development and for planning short- and longer-term improvements in disseminating economic and financial

6. The rest of the paper is organized as follows. Section II investigates the presumed main channel of transmission of the impact of IMF data standards initiatives on international finance variables. The focus is on measuring the effect of these initiatives on indicators of transparency or availability of information. Sections III–V cover the effects of the data standards initiatives on (i) FDI gross inflows, (ii) exchange rate volatility, and (iii) sovereign borrowing costs (yields and spreads). Section VI uses "event studies" as an alternative approach to identify the effect of participation in IMF data standards on the above variables. Section VII concludes.

7. Each of these sections checks the robustness of results reported in the three IMF publications mentioned above—which are available on the IMF's website and could be used to support the notion that "SDDS should contribute to the improved functioning of financial markets." In each section, we first run robustness checks using the original dataset that was available to the authors when the papers were published—to verify the soundness of the methodology (based on the estimation of cross-country panel regressions) and the adequacy of the data used.³ The robustness checks apply the same econometric models as used by the original authors to both the original dataset and to an updated sample that incorporates additional countries and more recent periods. We also provide new econometric evidence of the potential effects of SDDS and GDDS on the three variables of interest, based on alternative specifications of the original estimated equations, in which we use different estimation techniques and/or a different set of control variables.

8. Our results indicate that the IMF research findings about the effects of its data dissemination standards initiatives are: (i) likely erroneous for FDI flows, (ii) overstated for exchange rate volatility, and (iii) dubious for sovereign borrowing costs. The original IMF findings are often based on transformations of the data whose removal or correction substantially changes the original results. Overall, the original findings are not robust to changes in the sample. In some instances, they reflect insufficient consideration of the effect of factors other than the IMF data standards initiatives that are not properly controlled for in the estimations—such as global factors, which can potentially affect all countries, and time dependency. One conclusion—that SDDS helps reduce exchange rate volatility—seems to be the result of a misinterpretation of the estimated coefficients. All these problems occur separately or in combination.

data. Subscribers to each must provide certain information (metadata) to the IMF about their data dissemination practices. At present, there are 64 subscriptions to the SDDS and 112 to GDDS.

³ We thank the authors of these studies, who graciously made all the programs and data used in their analyses available to us.

9. Our findings—which hinge on the assessment of the IMF data standards initiatives narrowly based on their effects on selected macro-financial variables—should not be taken to imply that these IMF data standards initiatives are not effective in other dimensions.⁴

II. IMF DATA STANDARDS INITIATIVES AND TRANSPARENCY

10. The main channel of transmission of the effect of SDDS and GDDS to capital flows, volatility of exchange rates, and sovereign borrowing costs—as suggested in the IMF research papers analyzed here—is through increased transparency, which in turn should reduce noise-to-signal ratios and facilitate decisions for investors.

11. Table 1 shows the results of a panel regression of a measure of opacity (lack of availability of information) discussed in Brandão-Marques, Gelos, and Melga (2013) and a dummy variable for participation in IMF data standards initiatives.⁵ Country and period fixed effects are included to account for other domestic and common factors affecting opacity. The sample covers 30 countries from 1997 to 2012, of which 25 are either emerging-market economies (EMEs) or low-income economies (LICs).

12. A negative and statistically significant estimated coefficient associated with the IMF data initiatives dummy indicates that such initiatives reduce opacity and provides evidence that this channel is plausible. The results, however, do not support this conclusion: the estimated coefficient is never statistically significant at standard levels and, in one case, it is even positive.

Table 1. Relationship Between Participation in IMF Data Initiatives and Opacity										
Full Sample EMEs and LICs										
SDDS GDDS SDDS GDDS										
Estimate Coefficient	-0.87	-8.00	0.41	-9.35						
<i>p</i> -value	(0.77)	(0.18)	(0.90)	(0.11)						
Cross-sections	30	30	25	25						
Obs	416	416	341	341						
Adj. R ²	Adj. R ² 0.86 0.87 0.83 0.84									
Source: Authors' calculations us	ing data from B	randão-Marque	es, Gelos, and M	lelga (2013).						

⁴ Survey-based evidence presented in de Las Casas and Monasterski (2016), and also discussed in IEO (2016), suggests that the SDDS and GDDS may have played an important role in advancing data dissemination worldwide, improving both data quality and third parties' perception of national data across countries. Moreover, subscription to the SDDS is one of the twenty criteria used by the Institute of International Finance (IIF)—a global association of the financial industry, which advocates for policies that are in the broad interests of its close-to 500 members from 70 countries—to construct indices for the evaluation of investor relations and data dissemination practices across emerging-market sovereign-debt-issuing countries. See IIF (2015). This opens the possibility that a country's SDDS subscription status may be, at least partially, relevant for international investors' decisions in a way that our study did not capture.

⁵ In the case of SDDS, the dummy takes the value of one if country *i* met SDDS specifications by year *t*. In the case of GDDS, it equals one if country *i* is a subscriber of GDDS by year *t*. The reason for the difference in treatment is the very limited availability of data on opacity indicators prior to SDDS subscription for most countries. Using the dates when countries actually met the SDDS specification mitigates the problem.

III. THE SDDS AND CAPITAL INFLOWS

13. This section investigates the effect of meeting the requirements for SDDS subscription on gross foreign direct investment (FDI). We first examine the estimations by Hashimoto and Wacker (2012)—henceforth HW—and then propose an alternative specification.

A. Hashimoto and Wacker (2012)

14. Hashimoto and Wacker (2012) suggest that subscription to SDDS increased foreign direct investment by about 60 percent among SDDS subscribers. They estimate the following fixed-effects panel regression, using annual data from 70 SDDS subscribers over the period 1970–2010:

$$\log y_{it} = \beta + \alpha_i + \eta_t + \lambda SDDS_{it} + \theta \Psi_{it} + \varepsilon_{it}, \tag{1}$$

where y_{it} is a measure of capital inflows (FDI or portfolio) in country *i*, in year *t*, β is a constant; α_i and η_t are country specific and year fixed effects, respectively; $SDDS_{it}$ is a dummy variable that takes the value of one if country *i* met the SDDS specifications by year *t*, Ψ_{it} is a vector of control variables that includes macroeconomic variables, measures of institutional quality, and indicators of productivity;⁶ and ε_{it} is an error term.

15. HW's strategy is to exploit the variation *within* countries over time to capture meaningful differences in capital flows before and after SDDS subscription, relying on the year fixed effects, η_t , to control for global factors common to all countries, and on country fixed effects, α_i , and vector Ψ_{it} , to control for domestic factors.

16. The parameter of interest is λ .⁷ Regarding FDI inflows, the HW estimates of λ are 0.4462 or 0.4760, depending on the set of control variables used. These estimates imply increases of 56.2 percent and 60.9 percent in FDI, respectively, after countries meet the SSDS requirements. In the case of portfolio inflows, the estimated λ is found not to be statistically significant. In our analysis, we will focus on FDI flows.

⁶ The vector of control variables is fully described in HW (2012), Appendix B: 35–36.

⁷ The percentage increase in capital inflows when *SDDS* switches from 0 to 1 is equal to $(e^{\lambda} - 1) \times 100$.

B. Data Issues

17. We have two interrelated concerns regarding the data used in HW (2012): transformations in the variable of interest (FDI) and nonstationarity issues. The latter impose a common difficulty of working with gross rather than net flows.⁸

Concerns about the measure of capital inflows

18. The variable used by HW as the dependent variable y_{it} , in equation (1) is the gross FDI inflow—measured in U.S. dollars—deflated by the *domestic* GDP deflator, which mainly reflects prices in the local currency. This measure seems problematic in a panel setup for two main reasons.

19. First, the "within" variation in the data (i.e., within a country, across time)—crucial for the before-after SDDS comparisons—is highly affected by domestic inflation rates, sometimes dramatically. Consider the example of FDI flows to Argentina over the sample period used in HW (2012), displayed in Figure 1. FDI measured in U.S. dollars (upper left panel) is transformed when normalized by the GDP deflator (upper right) to produce the deflated measure of FDI flows (lower left). A marked



downward trend is introduced simply because of the hyperinflation that Argentina experienced in the first years of the sample, when actual capital inflows were on the rise. This effect remains, although mitigated, after rescaling using a log-transformation (lower right panel).⁹ This implies that the "within" variation of (transformed) FDI inflows can be very misleading when comparing pre- and post-SDDS subsamples.

⁸ Gross flows are, however, more appropriate for the study of SDDS subscription on capital inflows because it is more closely related to the behavior of foreign investors, towards whom the signaling of enhanced transparency supposedly works. Using net flows makes the identification of determinants of capital flows more difficult, because actions by foreign and domestic investors can counteract each other. See Forbes and Warnock (2012).

⁹ High inflation rates plague a significant share of the countries in the sample: one in five countries show *average* annual GDP inflation rates above 10 percent, while 21 percent of the observations refer to annual inflation rates above that threshold.

20. HW's transformation on FDI also makes the "between" variation (i.e., across countries in a given year) hard to interpret. Since the dependent variable's unit of measurement differs across countries, the cross-country averages are not well defined for any given year.¹⁰

Moreover, the "between" variation in the data is also affected by cross-country differences in inflation rates—which will affect the (transformed) series of capital inflows in different ways across countries.¹¹ This is a problem because it distorts the estimated year fixed effects, which will pick up global factors affecting not only capital inflows but also inflation rates across countries—for example, the common effects of disinflationary processes that tended to be concentrated in the later portion of the sample period (Figure 2).¹²



Nonstationarity

21. In contrast to the case of *net* capital flows, nonstationarity in *gross* capital flows data is likely to be pervasive.¹³ Figure 3 shows the evolution of the transformed measure of FDI inflows used as a dependent variable in equation (1), together with a regression line, in all 70 countries in the sample. An informal inspection of fitted regression lines indicates upward trends in 45 countries.¹⁴ Since the vector of control variables Ψ_{it} , also includes trending or nonstationary variables—such as the *level* of GDP (in logs)—a misspecified regression cannot be ruled out. In this case, an omitted deterministic or stochastic time trend is correlated with both the dependent variable and the regressors, invalidating standard statistical inference tests.¹⁵

¹⁰An additional complicating factor is that the series of GDP deflators used by HW in the normalization of FDI flows do not have the same base year in all countries. For instance, for the United States, the GDP deflator series is based (i.e., takes the value of one) in 2005, while for Argentina it is based in 1993.

¹¹ The country-specific averages of the annual GDP inflation rates in the HW sample have a mean of 7.5 percent and a standard deviation of 7.7 percent, ranging from negative 1.6 percent (Hong Kong) to 35.4 percent (Turkey).

¹² In the effective sample in HW's estimation of equation (1) for FDI, the average GDP inflation rates are higher in 1988–96 relative to 1997–2009 in 46 of the 53 countries for which the comparison is possible. The average and maximal differences between the subsamples are 5.4 percentage points and 58 percentage points (Bolivia), respectively.

¹³ Despite a growing literature on the determinants of capital flows that focuses on gross flows data (Forbes and Warnock, 2010), nonstationarity in gross flows is often invoked to motivate studies based on net capital flows data. See *WEO* (IMF, 2011): 126.

¹⁴ Figure 3 also shows *downward* trends in nine countries, most of which have experienced very high inflation rates over the sample period—some even hyperinflation—such as Argentina, Bolivia, Turkey, and Mexico.

¹⁵ See Hamilton (1994), pp. 557-62.



22. Table 2 shows the results from panel and country-by-country unit root tests on FDI inflows—both in U.S. dollars and transformed as in HW's study—and the (log) GDP level, using HW's original dataset. There is strong evidence of nonstationarity in these series. Considering five different types of panel unit root tests, the null hypothesis of a unit root cannot typically be rejected at usual significance levels (marked in red) in either FDI flows or GDP. Evidence of nonstationarity in panel data also exists for the transformed measure of FDI, although less strongly (the null hypothesis of a panel unit root only cannot be rejected in Breitung's test). Consistently, when considering country-specific unit root tests, the null hypothesis of a unit root can be rejected in fewer than 35 percent of countries in the sample (at most 24 out of 70 countries).¹⁶

	FDI flo	ws	log(FDI flows/0	GDP deflator)	log(GDP)			
	No Trend	Trend	No Trend	Trend	No Trend	Trend		
Panel 2 (<i>p</i> -values for the null hypothesis of a unit root)								
LLC	1.00	0.68	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.00		
BTG	n.a	0.99	n.a	0.79	n.a	1.00		
IPS	1.00	0.31	0.00	0.01	0.99	0.99		
ADF	0.77	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.74	0.96		
PP	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.14		
Country	-by-country	y PP tes	sts					
number	r of countri	es for v	vhich unit root i	is rejected)				
at 5%	10	15	16	14	9	7		
at 10%	16	19	18	24	9	8		
Source: Note: LI Pesarar Perron f on the F	Authors' ca _C = Levin, n and Shin (tests. See M leterosceda	alculatio Lin, and 2003), Aaddala astic-col	ns. d Chu (2002); BT ADF = Augment and Wu (1999) nsistent z-stat. L mation criterion	ΓG = Breitung (ed Dickey-Fulle and Choi (200 ags selected a	(2000); IPS er test and F 1). Hadri's to utomatically	= Im, PP = Pr est is b based		

23. HW (2012) did not consider these issues. In the next two subsections, we assess the sensitivity of their conclusions to the use of alternative measures of the dependent variable that mitigate these concerns.

C. Robustness Checks

24. This subsection investigate the extent to which HW's main result—that meeting SDDS standards leads to an increase of about 60 percent in FDI inflows—is driven by a failure to properly capture (i) global factors that primarily affect FDI flows but not inflation (given the potential distortion in estimated year fixed effects) and/or (ii) stochastic or

¹⁶ Karlsson and Löthgren (2000) argue that if tests have high power, a rejection of the panel unit root null can be driven by a few stationary country-specific series that make the whole panel erroneously be taken as stationary.

deterministic trends in FDI inflows, which typically increased worldwide after the mid-1990s.

Robustness to deterministic trends and autoregressive terms

25. How do the HW results change when different approaches are used to account for time dependency in FDI inflows and for factors common to all countries in the sample?

26. Table 3 displays the estimated SDDS effect on FDI inflows from alternative specifications of equation (1) using HW's original dataset. For convenience, the result from HW's specification is reported in the first row. The results are robust to including common deterministic time trends or common first-order lags of the dependent variable—either independently or combined—instead of year fixed effects (rows 2–4): the estimated SDDS effects are somewhat reduced but remain statistically and economically significant. The results are also robust to using global FDI (as a share of global GDP) as a way to capture global trends in FDI^{17} —either combined with time fixed effects, a common trend, and a common AR(1) term assuming a common effect across all countries (rows 5–7), or by itself allowing for country-specific coefficients (row 8).

	Estimated		Implied SDD	S
Alternative Specifications of HW Equation	Coefficient (λ)	<i>p</i> -value	Effect ⁽¹⁾	<i>p</i> -value ⁽²⁾
1 Time Fixed Effects, as in HW(2012)	0.44	0.00	57.1%	0.00
2 Common linear trend	0.32	0.00	50.6%	0.00
3 Common AR(1) term	0.31	0.00	50.3%	0.00
4 Common AR(1) term + common trend	0.29	0.00	49.1%	0.01
5 world FDI as share of GDP + time FE	0.47	0.00	58.8%	0.00
6 world FDI as share of GDP + trend	0.31	0.00	50.3%	0.00
7 world FDI as share of GDP + AR(1)	0.26	0.00	47.9%	0.01
8 world FDI as share of GDP, indiv. coef.	0.24	0.00	46.9%	0.01
9 Individual linear trends	0.04	0.70	38.4%	0.71
10 Individual AR(1) term	0.10	0.20	40.7%	0.22
11 Individual trend + common AR(1)	0.04	0.72	38.1%	0.73
12 Individual AR(1) + common trend	0.07	0.40	39.6%	0.42
13 world FDI as share of GDP, indiv. coef. + trend	0.16	0.10	43.2%	0.13
14 world FDI as share of GDP, indiv. coef. + AR(1)	0.13	0.09	41.9%	0.11
15 Individual trend + common AR(1) + world FDI shr	0.03	0.76	37.9%	0.77
16 Individual AR(1) + common trend + world FDI shr	0.09	0.29	40.3%	0.31

¹⁷ When computing "global" aggregates for FDI and GDP used in each cross-section, the values for the associated country-year are excluded to minimize reverse causality concerns.

27. However, using country-specific trends or AR (1) terms instead of year fixed-effects (rows 9–12), or allowing for the effect of the global FDI-to-GDP ratio to be country-specific in combination with a (common) trend or AR (1) term (rows 13–16) drastically reduce the SDDS coefficient, which tends to become statistically insignificant. Consistent with the country-by-country unit-root tests in Table 2, these results suggest that country-specific trends have not been appropriately accounted for in HW's estimations, with important implications for the estimated effects of SDDS.

"Placebo" estimations

28. An alternative way to assess whether a failure to account for trends and nonstationarity in the data produced misspecified regressions in HW (2012) is to estimate "placebo" regressions. In these, the true dates of SDDS subscription used to create the SDDS dummy, are intentionally changed—backwards and forwards, deterministically or randomly. Strong results for the effect of SDDS on FDI even with the *false* SDDS dates would constitute evidence of misspecified regression, where the SDDS dummy variable most likely simply captures the before-after effect of growth in FDI over time, not the effect of the SDDS initiative per se.

29. Results of two types of placebo tests on the estimation of equation (1) for FDI are displayed in Table 4. The first three columns refer to estimations using the same dataset and model as HW (2012) but counterfactually moving the SDDS date up to ten years before and five years after the actual date of subscription (t_0). When the SDDS date is moved forward (i.e., to t_0+n years), except for one-year-ahead changes, the estimated coefficient is drastically reduced relative to the original estimate and is no longer statistically significant. This tends to validate HW's results. But using backward changes and one-year-ahead changes in the SDDS date yields estimates of the SDDS effect that are very similar in magnitude to that in HW (2012) and are statistically significant, indicating that actual SDDS dates do not seem to be particularly important for the results.¹⁸

30. In the remaining (right) portion of Table 4, the changes in the SDDS dates are random. First, 100 estimations with the redefined SDDS dummy variables are conducted for three different time intervals both with and without the actual date in the randomization exercise. Note that for the longer interval—SDDS dates allowed to randomly change between ten years before t_0 and five years after t_0 —about half of the estimated SDDS coefficients are statistically significant at the 5 percent level (two-thirds are significant at the 10 percent level), while the average estimated coefficient (0.26–0.27) implies an increase of about 30 percent in FDI inflows. When the interval for the randomization of SDDS dates is

¹⁸ A caveat applies here. Given the typically upward trend in FDI, moving the SDDS dates backward reduces the average FDI inflows for the pre-SDDS period *proportionally* by more than the reduction in the post-SDDS average, biasing the estimates of the marginal effect of the SDDS *upward*. This may partially explain why the SDDS effect seems to increase when the SDDS dates are moved eight years or more backwards. The opposite applies when SDDS dates are moved forward, which may account for the low and statistically non-significant SDDS effect estimates when SDSS dates are moved two years or more into the future.

shortened to two years before and after t_0 , the estimated SDDS effects are stronger even if the actual dates are excluded from the exercise. Finally, when SDDS dates are allowed to randomly change, either in fixed five-year intervals between t_0 -10 and t_0 +5—minimizing, therefore, the effect of "centering" the intervals around t_0 —or in a fixed five-year interval that does not include t_0 (last column), the estimated effects of SDDS are almost always significant at the 10 percent level and similar in magnitude to HW's original estimates.

Deterministi	c SDDS Date	Changes	Random SDDS Date Changes							
SDDS dummy	Estimated		Number of Statistically Significant Results at the 1%, 5%,							
moved to C	Coefficient (λ) <i>p</i> -value	and 10	0% levels in 10) Estimations o	f HW's equatio	n (1) for FDI			
t ₀ -10	0.63	0.03		year t _o (S	DDS date unch	anged) allowed	1			
t ₀ -9	0.54	0.03					random five-yea			
t ₀ -8	0.50	0.02		rando	m changes bet	ween	fixed window			
t ₀ -7	0.43	0.01	significance	t ₀ -10 and t ₀ +5	t_0 -5 and t_0 +5	t ₀ -2 and t ₀ +2	from t_0 -10 to t_0 +			
t ₀ -6	0.44	0.00	1%	16	18	68	19			
t ₀ -5	0.38	0.01	5%	47	49	95	80			
t ₀ -4	0.45	0.00	10%	66	68	100	93			
t ₀ -3	0.56	0.00	average $\hat{\lambda}$	0.27	0.27	0.39	0.33			
t ₀ -2	0.60	0.00								
t ₀ -1	0.59	0.00		year t ₀ e	excluded from r	andomization				
t _o	0.44	0.00			random cha	nges between				
t ₀ +1	0.33	0.03	significance	t ₀ -10 and t ₀ +5	t_0 -5 and t_0 +5	t_0 -2 and t_0 +2	$t t_0-5 \text{ and } t_0-1$			
t ₀ +2	0.17	0.25	1%	17	17	59	84			
t ₀ +3	0.12	0.44	5%	47	50	93	88			
t ₀ +4	0.01	0.93	10%	64	68	99	89			
t ₀ +5	0.06	0.71	average $\hat{\lambda}$	0.26	0.27	0.38	0.46			

31. These results, taken together with those in Tables 2–3, corroborate our initial conjecture that (typically upward) trends in FDI flows—possibly linked to financial globalization and the increasing liberalization of capital flows across countries—introduce nonstationarity in the data that is not well controlled for by year fixed effects in HW's study.

D. Does SDDS Increase FDI Flows?

32. In this subsection, we update HW's dataset and estimate alternative specifications of their original panel regression. Differently from HW, instead of using period fixed effects, we rely mainly on a set of global control variables to capture factors that are common to all countries. We also normalize FDI inflows by GDP to mitigate nonstationary concerns (Table 5).¹⁹

¹⁹ Note that, differently from FDI in levels, logs, or deflated by the U.S. GDP deflator, in the case of FDI as a percentage of GDP all panel unit tests reject the null hypothesis of a unit root at the 5 percent significance level. Also, the frequency of rejection is greater in country-by-country tests when FDI is normalized by GDP. We also

33. Following Lane and Milesi-Ferretti (2012), we exclude economies that are either too small (GDP in 2007 less than US\$20 billion) or too poor (per capita GDP in 2007 less than US\$1,000). We also exclude outliers in FDI inflows.²⁰ As a result, depending on the set of control variables used, our sample contains between 87 and 106 countries. The effective sample period starts between 1984 and 1991 and ends in 2011.²¹

34. We estimate the following panel regression:²²

$$f di_{it} = \beta + \alpha_i + \lambda SDDS_{it} + \theta^* \Psi_{it}^* + \theta \Psi_{it} + \varepsilon_{it}, \qquad (2)$$

where $f di_{it}$ is FDI in percent of GDP, β is a constant, α_i is a country-specific fixed effect, $SDDS_{it}$ is the dummy variable for country *i* that meets the SDDS specifications by year *t*; Ψ_{it}^* and Ψ_{it} are vectors of global and domestic control variables, respectively;²³ θ^* and θ are vectors of coefficients, and ε_{it} is an error term.

35. The choice of control variables is largely based on recent empirical literature on capital flows and, to some extent, on the IMF's work on current account determination.²⁴ The set of global variables, Ψ_{it}^* , includes variables to capture liquidity (change in U.S. short-term interest rates) and risk conditions, as well as economic (real GDP) growth in the global economy. It also includes the FDI-to-GDP ratio in the rest of the world (i.e., excluding country *i*). To capture potential heterogeneous effects of these variables across countries we interact them with selected country variables: the change in U.S. interest rates is interacted

performed panel unit root tests on all the regressors discussed below. When evidence of a unit root was found, we transformed the variable to eliminate the problem. The sources—with a detailed description—of all the series used are presented in Annex 1.

²⁰ Defined as observations that: (i) are deemed "influential" on each country's averages of *both* the change and levels of FDI flows as percentage of GDP—i.e., that by themselves can affect the average in a significant way according to at least three out of seven different "influential statistics" (see Annex 2 for details) *and* (ii) deviate from the trend—obtained from a Hodrick-Prescott (HP) filter—by either more than two standard deviations or more than 5 percent of GDP, whichever is less. Extremely high levels of FDI (above 30 percent of GDP, which is more than seven standard deviations from the sample average) were also excluded.

²¹ For comparison, HW's sample contains 70 countries over the 1989–2008 period.

²² In subsamples for advanced, emerging-market, and low-income economies, after removing regressors that are not statistically significant, the effective sample periods start in 1980, 1991, and 1984, respectively.

²³ We also performed panel unit root tests on all the regressors. When evidence of a unit root was found, we transformed the variable—either by removing its HP trend or by using deviations from the world (cross-country, GDP-weighted) average—to eliminate the problem. See Annex 1.

²⁴ We particularly relied on the analytical chapter about international capital flows in *WEO* (IMF, 2011), pp. 125–62; Milesi-Ferretti and Tille (2011); Fratzscher (2012); Agosin and Huaita (2012); Forbes and Warnock (2012); and Lane and Milesi-Ferretti (2012). We were also inspired by the choice of variables in the IMF's panel estimations of determinants of the current account used in the External Balance Assessment (IMF, 2013).

with measures of financial depth (FINDEPTH) and financial exposure to the United States (FINEXPOUS), and with an indicator of the use of country *i*'s currency as a reserve currency (RESCUR); the measure of global risk is interacted with Chinn and Ito's (2008) index of capital account openness (FINOPEN) and FINDEPTH; and world real GDP growth is interacted with a measure of trade openness (TRADEOPEN).²⁵

	FDI fl	ows	Log(F	DI)	Log(FDI/U.S. GI	FDI (% GDP)					
	No Trend Trend		No Trend	Trend	No Trend Trend		No Trend	Trend			
Panel tests (<i>p</i> -values for the null hypothesis of a unit root)											
LLC	1.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.00	0.02	0.00			
BTG	n.a	1.00	n.a	0.01	n.a	0.00	n.a	0.00			
IPS	1.00	1.00	0.69	0.00	0.12	0.00	0.02	0.00			
ADF	1.00	0.50	0.49	0.00	0.03	0.00	0.00	0.00			
PP	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00			
Country	-by-count	ry PP tes	sts (number	of cour	ntries for which	unit root is r	ejected)				
at 5%	18	28	16	37	21	36	43	43			
at 10%	21	30	24	45	31	46	51	56			
urce: Autho te: LLC = L Augmented 001). Lags	ors' calcula .evin, Lin, a Dickey-Fu selected au	tions. and Chu ller test a itomatica	(2002); BTG Ind PP = Phi Illy based on	= Breitu Ilips-Per the Moo	ng (2000); IPS = ron tests. See Ma lified Schwarz info	lm, Pesaran a ddala and Wi ormation crite	and Shin (20 J (1999) an rion.	003), Al d Choi			

36. Besides the interacting variables mentioned above (except FINEXPOUS), the set of domestic controls, Ψ_{it} , includes the International Country Risk Guide (ICRG) index of political risk (POLRISK), three dummy variables for fixed, "dirty" floating, and floating exchange rate regimes, investment (as a percentage of GDP), five-year-ahead *World Economic Outlook (WEO)* growth forecasts, per capita GDP (relative to that of the U.S.), change in the net foreign asset (NFA) position (as percentage of GDP), the deviation of the PPP-based real exchange rate from a smooth (Hodrick-Prescott, HP) trend, and a dummy variable for foreign exchange crises.

37. Table 6 shows the estimation results for several variants of equation (2). To account for potential endogeneity problems, we also estimate the model using a just-identified GMM estimator in which potentially endogenous variables—typically, the domestic controls variables—are instrumented for by their lags. In addition, across the different specifications, we include common first-order autoregressive terms and linear time trends to capture stochastic or deterministic time dependency not reflected in the global control variables. For robustness, we also show the results from a specification that uses year fixed effects and country-specific autoregressive terms and trends.

²⁵ For the U.S. interest rates, we use the principal component of the Federal Funds Rate and three-month Treasury bill (T-Bill). Global risk is the principal component of the VIX index of market volatility and TED spreads. Trade openness is expressed in deviations from its cross-country GDP-weighted average to correct for a unit root. See Annex 1.

38. First, note that the SDDS dummy is never statistically significant at the 10 percent level in any of the specifications, including when we search for statistically significant variables in equation (2) on subsamples for advanced (AE), emerging-market (EME), and low-income (LIC) economies.²⁶ Second, to a large extent, OLS and GMM estimations are mutually consistent, which suggests that endogeneity problems are contained. Third, time-dependency is important: both linear trends and AR (1) terms seem to matter for FDI inflows.

39. Fourth, overall, the estimated coefficients associated with the control variables, when statistically significant, show the expected sign:²⁷

- Increases in the interest rates in the United States have a negative effect on FDI inflows that is somewhat mitigated in countries that have deeper financial markets and whose currencies are largely held as foreign reserves by other countries.
- Global risk does not seem to have a symmetric effect on FDI inflows to all countries: its negative effect is only significant when domestic control variables are omitted or when the sample is split along levels of development—it negatively affects FDI inflows in all countries, but in both EMEs and LICs it only does so in combination with greater financial openness. Moreover, the negative effect of global risk is typically mitigated by greater financial depth.
 - World GDP growth has an overall negative effect on FDI inflows, but this is largely attributable to its effect on AEs: when we split the sample by country income group, its effect is only negative and statistically significant in the AE subsample. In addition, the negative effect of world GDP growth is reversed in economies with high degrees of trade openness (or, at least, largely offset, as in the subsample for AEs). This result provides some evidence that in a growing world economy, FDI flows tend to be diverted from AEs to less developed economies, especially those that are more open to trade.
 - Trade and financial openness, as well as financial depth, typically help to increase FDI inflows. The positive effect of trade openness, especially in AEs, is noteworthy.
 - Both the investment rate and the five-year-ahead forecasts of real GDP growth indicators of future growth—have positive effects on FDI inflows. Moreover, levels

²⁶ We also estimated the baseline model using the full sample, but allowing the SDDS effect to differ across these country groupings. No statistically significant SDDS-related coefficient was found either.

²⁷ Regarding the effect of FDI inflows reported in Table 6, unexpected coefficient signs are rare: a positive effect of global risk in the OLS estimation for the subsample of EMEs; a negative effect of the investment rate in both the GMM estimation with period effects and country-specific AR(1) and trends— which also shows an unexpected negative effect of the change in NFA position—and in the OLS estimation for the subsample of AEs; and, finally, a negative effect of the real exchange rate in the OLS estimation with period effects and country-specific AR(1) and trends.

of the PPP-adjusted real exchange rate that are above trend—i.e., domestic assets tend to be relatively cheaper to foreign investors—are associated with higher ratios of FDI inflows to GDP.

E. Summary

40. The results in this section suggest that the findings in HW (2012) are not solid. They seem to largely overestimate the effect of SDDS on FDI inflows, and they crucially depend on a specific (and controversial) transformation imposed on the data on FDI inflows.

41. This transformation (i) potentially introduces trends in the data that are orthogonal to FDI inflows and mainly driven by inflation, and (ii) distorts the econometric strategy—use of period fixed effects—used to control for common (global) factors that may affect FDI inflows worldwide.

42. In addition, HW do not give careful consideration to the time-dependency and nonstationarity observed in FDI inflows. This may lead to a misspecified empirical strategy. Placebo tests, in which the true SDDS subscription dates are replaced by false dates, support this hypothesis: a similar effect of SDDS on FDI inflows reported in HW (2012), using their own dataset and model, can be found even ten years before countries actually meet the requirements to subscribe to SDDS. These "false positives" are an indication that there is nothing special about the dates of SDDS subscription in regard to its effect on FDI inflows.

43. Furthermore, when a different transformation (i.e., normalization by GDP) is used with a view to mitigating unit root problems that are common in gross capital flows data and were not accounted for by HW—and proper account of time-dependency is taken in the econometric strategy, the results in HW (2012) do not hold: no statistically significant effect of SDDS on FDI inflows is found across several specifications of our econometric model, or when using HW's own model.

IV. THE RESERVE TEMPLATE AND THE VOLATILITY OF EXCHANGE RATES

44. This section studies the potential effects of the adoption of the IMF's Data Template on International Reserves and Foreign Currency Liquidity (the "Reserves Template," RT) on exchange rate volatility. It builds on Cady and Gonzalez-Garcia (2007)—henceforth CGG by performing additional robustness checks using their dataset. We also present new evidence based on different specifications of alternative econometric models applied to an updated sample. The goal is to test the robustness of CGG's finding that the adoption of the RT—a component of the SDDS since April 2000 for the dissemination of data on foreign liquidity positions—is associated with a 20 percent decrease in exchange rate volatility.

					Table 6.	Estim	ation Res	sults—	FDI (I	Perce	nt of	f GDP)							
		Corr	mon AR(1) and t	rend, Country	Fixed-Effects			Country-	specific A	R(1) and tr	rends,			Baseline M	odel (Search R	outine with 1	0% significance)	
Model	Global Variables	Polic	y Intervention	Macro Fund	amentals (1)	Macro F	undamentals (2)	Countr	y and Yea	r Fixed-Ef	fects	Full S	ample	Advanced	d Economies	Emerging N	Ikt Economies	Low-Incon	e Economies
	OLS GMM	OLS	GMM	OLS	GMM	OLS	GMM	OL	S	GMM	1	OLS	GMM	OLS	GMM	OLS	GMM	OLS	GMM
Variable	Coef. prob. Coef. prob	. Coef. pr	ob. Coef. prob.	Coef. prob.	Coef. prob.	Coef. pro	b. Coef. prob	. Coef.	prob.	Coef.	prob.	Coef. prob.	Coef. prob.	Coef. prob	. Coef. prob.	Coef. prob	. Coef. prob.	Coef. prob	. Coef. prob.
С	0.07 0.92 0.08 0.9	2 <mark>-5.20 0</mark>	<mark>.00 -6.14 0.00</mark>	<mark>-10.45</mark> 0.00	-10.56 0.00	-9.53 0	<mark>.00 -9.87 0.0</mark>	<mark>0</mark> -5.10	0.35	-2.89	0.69	-5.34 0.00	-6.96 0.00	<mark>-1.87 0.3</mark>	<mark>8 -4.35 0.01</mark>	-5.41 0.0	<mark>0 -0.02 0.99</mark>	-3.45 0.0	<mark>0 -1.10 0.04</mark>
SDDS	-0.17 0.67 -0.35 0.4	1 -0.43 0	.29 -0.63 0.14	-0.29 0.50	-0.51 0.27	-0.20 0	65 0.04 0.9	4 -0.29	0.56	-0.80	0.18								
Δ U.S. int. rate ($\Delta i_{\rm US})$	<mark>-0.39 0.09 -0.54 0.0</mark>	4 -0.49 O	.05 -0.74 0.01	-0.66 0.05	-0.92 0.01	-0.65 0	.06 -0.83 0.0	4				-0.44 0.01	-0.62 0.01			-0.49 0.1	<mark>1 -0.94 0.01</mark>		
$\Delta i_{\rm US}$ × FINDEPTH	0.01 0.09 0.01 0.0	8 0.01 0	.01 0.01 0.00	0.01 0.01	0.02 0.00	0.01 0	01 0.02 0.0	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01 0.00	0.02 0.00			0.01 0.0	<mark>7 0.02 0.01</mark>		
$\Delta i_{\rm US}$ × RESCUR	1.04 0.10 0.77 0.2	9 <mark>1.13 0</mark>	.08 0.83 0.24	1.20 0.07	1.03 0.15	0.78 0	25 0.81 0.3	2 -0.50	0.57	-0.46	0.65	1.20 0.04							
$\Delta i_{\rm US}$ × FINEXPOUS	0.15 0.81 0.48 0.5	0 -0.08 0	.90 0.09 0.90	-0.26 0.70	-0.12 0.88	-0.08 0	91 0.15 0.8	6 0.49	0.58	0.42	0.69								
Global risk (µ)	0.01 0.98 -0.17 0.6	3 -0.09 0	.78 -0.29 0.41	-0.64 0.20	-0.83 0.12	-0.55 0	27 -0.44 0.4	7							-0.50 0.07	0.40 0.0	<mark>5</mark>		
$\mu \times FINOPEN$	-0.12 0.15 <mark>-0.22 0.0</mark>	<mark>2</mark> -0.11 0	.23 -0.20 0.05	-0.05 0.64	-0.09 0.45	-0.06 0	58 -0.14 0.3	0 -0.11	0.35	-0.05	0.75						-0.24 0.05		-0.26 0.01
$\mu \times FINDEPTH$	0.01 0.16 0.01 0.0	6 0.01 0	.05 0.01 0.01	0.01 0.01	0.02 0.00	0.01 0	02 0.02 0.0	1 0.01	0.04	0.01	0.02	0.01 0.01	0.01 0.00					0.01 0.0	1
World GDP growth (g_w)	-0.46 0.00 -0.52 0.0	0 -0.33 0	.00 -0.25 0.02	-0.39 0.00	-0.30 0.02	-0.36 0	00 -0.32 0.0	2				-0.28 0.00	-0.28 0.01	-0.41 0.0	0 -0.57 0.00	0.12 0.0	<mark>3</mark>		
$g_w \times \text{TRADEOPEN}$	0.60 0.00 0.71 0.0	0 0.44 0	.00 0.38 0.00	0.47 0.00	0.40 0.00	0.47 0	00 0.46 0.0	0.42	0.00	0.43	0.00	0.45 0.00	0.44 0.00	0.38 0.0	0 0.34 0.00			0.22 0.0	<mark>2 0.20 0.03</mark>
Rest of the World FDI/GDP	0.57 0.00 0.61 0.0	0 0.56 0	.00 0.57 0.00	0.57 0.00	0.50 0.02	0.50 0.	00 0.40 0.0	4				0.45 0.00	0.31 0.04	1.49 0.0	0 1.61 0.00				
POLRISK (*)		0.05 0	.00 0.05 0.01	0.04 0.10	0.05 0.07	0.04 0	.16 <mark>0.050.0</mark>	<mark>8</mark> -0.02	0.37	0.02	0.61		0.04 0.10						
Exc. Rate Regime: FIX		0.39 0	.20 0.35 0.32	0.41 0.27	0.22 0.60	0.44 0	23 0.24 0.5	8 0.54	0.11	0.66	0.14			0.70 0.0	6 0.77 0.06				
Exc. Rate Reg.: Dirty FLOAT		0.27 0	.32 0.31 0.31	0.27 0.40	0.15 0.67	0.27 0	40 -0.03 0.9	3 0.39	0.22	0.63	0.11					0.36 0.1	<mark>0 0.46 0.08</mark>		
Exc. Rate Regime: FLOAT		0.16 0	.58 0.08 0.79	0.07 0.82	-0.11 0.74	0.08 0.	80 -0.18 0.6	4 0.28	0.37	0.48	0.24								
TRADEOPEN (*)		3.63 0	.00 5.33 0.00	5.51 0.00	8.68 0.00	5.20 0	00 6.66 0.0	0 2.54	0.02	4.88	0.08	4.44 0.00	6.19 0.00	6.97 0.0	0 9.37 0.00	4.89 0.0	<mark>o</mark>		
FINOPEN (*)		0.26 0	.10 0.21 0.22	0.30 0.15	0.34 0.13	0.32 0	.13 0.50 0.0	4 0.07	0.72	0.38	0.13	0.35 0.03	0.56 0.01			0.45 0.0	1 0.51 0.02		
FINDEPTH		0.03 0	.00 0.04 0.00	0.04 0.00	0.04 0.00	0.05 0	00 0.06 0.0	0.00	0.75	-0.01	0.81	0.04 0.00	0.05 0.00	0.04 0.0	0 0.05 0.00				
RESCUR		1.02 0	.47 1.11 0.45	0.67 0.66	1.02 0.51	-0.50 0	.75 -1.41 0.4	3 1.38	0.48	5.08	0.13								
INV / GDP (*)				0.13 0.00	0.10 0.11	0.13 0.	00 0.14 0.0	4 0.09	0.00	-0.18	0.03	0.13 0.00	0.12 0.06	-0.09 0.1	0	0.19 0.0	o	0.03 0.0	4
5-Y GROWTH FORECAST				0.40 0.00	0.53 0.00	0.41 0	.00 0.48 0.0	0 0.46	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.25 0.00	0.39 0.00			0.21 0.0	1 0.52 0.00	0.30 0.0	6
RELATIVE PER CAPITA GDF	0			0.00 0.90	-0.06 0.22	-0.02 0	59 -0.07 0.1	4 0.01	0.74	0.02	0.74		-0.10 0.02			-0.07 0.0	2 -0.12 0.02		
∆NFA / GDP						0.00 0	.98 0.15 0.0	5 -0.02	0.19	-0.24	0.09		0.11 0.05						
RER PPP (*)						0.17 0	.76 2.28 0.0	5 -0.84	0.04	-0.45	0.75		2.26 0.02						
FX CRISIS						0.36 0	.46 -0.67 0.8	2 0.44	0.32	3.41	0.44								
@TREND	0.07 0.03 0.06 0.0	8 0.02 0	67 0 02 0 54	0.02 0.70	0.04 0.34	0.02 0	68 -0 01 0 9	2				0.01 0.86	0 01 0 75	-0.09.0.0	8 -0 13 0 08	0.09 0.0	1 0 09 0 01	0 12 0 0	0 0 11 0 00
AR(1)	0.42 0.00 0.43 0.0	0 0.39 0	00 0.40 0.00	0.34 0.00	0.35 0.00	0.33 0	00 0.35 0.0	- 0				0.37 0.00	0.36 0.00	0.24 0.0	0 0.23 0.00	0.50 0.0	0 0.54 0.00	0.66 0.0	0 0.70 0.00
Periods	28 28	27	27	21	21	21	21	- 22		22		21	21	32	32	21	21	40	40
Cross-sections	20 20 02 02	27	27	88	21	87	87	87		87		106	100	20	20	57	57	10	10
Observations	2054 2054	101/	101/	1554	1554	1532	1532	1622		1600		18/3	1707	785	786	038	038	502	526
Adi R ²	0.59 0.59	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.59	0.50	0.55	0.65		0.55		0.50	0.57	0.64	0.64	0.63	0.59	0.77	0.77
Normality: Nb of countries	52 53	0.09	55	68	70	66	0.00	00.0		62		75	74	13	13	0.03	49	0.77 R	7
Source: Authors' coloui	ations	00	50	00	10	00	04	00		02		15		13	13	-U	.	0	
Note: (*) indicates that t	he same or similar	series we	ere used in HV	V (2012); p	values com	nputed us	ing robust st	andard e	rrors (cr	oss-sec	tion cl	ustering).	Yellow hig	hlighted c	ells are stati	stically sig	gnificant.		

A. Cady and Gonzalez-Garcia (2007)

45. Using a quarterly data set from 48 industrial, emerging market, and low-income countries over the period 1991–2005, CGG estimate a panel regression of the (log) volatility of the nominal exchange rate on a set of fundamental macroeconomic variables and a dummy variable that indicates the adoption of the RT. The CGG panel regression is:

 $\log V_{it} = \beta + \alpha_i + \eta_t + \lambda_1 R T_{it} + \lambda_2 R T_{it} * D_{it} + \lambda_3 R T_{it} * R A_{it} + \theta \Psi_{it} + A R_i(1) + \mu Time + \varepsilon_{it}, \quad (3)$

where V_{it} is the nominal exchange rate volatility in country *i*, year *t*, β is a constant; α_i and η_t are country-specific and period fixed effects, respectively; RT_{it} takes the value of one if country *i* uses the Reserves Template at year *t*, Ψ_{it} is a vector of control variables including measures of indebtedness (D_{it} , in logs), reserve adequacy (ratio of international reserves to short-term external debt, RA_{it} , in logs), and dummy variables for exchange rate regimes. These are interacted with RT_{it} to capture potential non-linear effects related to the use of the Reserves Template;²⁹ $AR_i(1) = \gamma_i \log V_{it-1}$ are country-specific autoregressive terms; *Time* is a time trend; and ε_{it} is an error term.

46. The direct, (log) linear effect of the Reserves Template on exchange rate volatility is captured by the parameter λ_1 . CGG (2007) find that *RT* is associated with a 20 percent decrease in nominal exchange rate volatility based on this linear effect alone. However, the *total* marginal effect of *RT*—including the non-linear effects associated with D_{it} and RA_{it} —is time-varying because of the interaction terms, and given by $e^{(\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 D_{it} + \lambda_3 RA_{it})} - 1$.

47. Table 7, constructed using CGG's original data and estimations, shows the total marginal effect of the "treatment" (RT use) on the "treated" (i.e., countries for which RT = 1 at some point in time) when computed at mean and median values of D_{it} and RA_{it} , as well as for different quartiles. Based on both the mean and the median, the "typical" value of the total RT effect is negative (-6.8 percent and -7.9 percent, respectively), but not statistically significant at the 10 percent level or less. Thus, when considering the total effect of RT (rather than just its direct, linear effect), CGG's original results actually *do not* support the conclusion that adoption of the Reserves Template reduces exchange rate volatility. There is however, a negative and significant effect (-17.5 percent) for countries with high levels of both indebtedness and reserves (high values of D_{it} and RA_{it}) in the last quartile of their distributions.

²⁹ The dates of countries' adoption of the Reserves Template that were used to construct the dummy variable RT were obtained from IMF records. Other variables in Ψ_{it} are changes in fiscal balances; real GDP growth; CPI inflation; volatility of money growth; current account balance; a measure of the economy's openness to trade; and dummy variables indicating periods of fixed exchange rates and periods of "managed" floating or intervention. See CGG (2007), pp. 752–53 for a description of the data.

Table 7. CGG's Est	imated Total E	ffect of R	F on Exchange Rate Vola	tility
RT-Related Estimated	Coefficients		Total Effects	
Reserves Template(RT_{it})	$= \lambda_{\pm} -0.20$	Mean D_{it}		-0.35
	(0.07)	Mean <i>RA</i> it		-1.04
		Marginal ef	fect of RT at mean {D, RA } (1)	-6.8%
RT_{it} × Debt/GDP ratio (D_{it}), $= \lambda_2 - 0.14$			(0.42)
	(0.01)			. ,
		Median D_{it}		-0.57
RT_{it} × Reserve Adequacy (RA_{it}) = λ -0.08	Median RA	it	-0.47
	(0.07)	Marginal ef	fect of RT at median {D, RA }	-7.9%
				(0.12)
Marginal Effects at differer	nt values of D_{it} an	d RA it		
		D (
		RA _{it}		
	First Quartile	<u>Median</u>	Third Quartile	
First Quartile	8.3%	-2.7%	-7.4%	
	(0.49)	(0.76)	(0.41)	
D _{it} Median	2.5%	-7.9%	-12.3%	
	(0.80)	(0.12)	(0.16)	
Third Quartile	-3.6%	-13.4%	-17.5%	
	(0.69)	(0.11)	(0.05)	
Source: Authors' calculation Notes: (1) Effects at the me indicates the mean or media	ns using data and an and median ar an of <i>X</i> . The assoc	estimation re e calculated ciated <i>p</i> -valu	esults from CGG (2007). as $(e^{\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 \overline{D}_{it} + \lambda_3 \overline{RA}_{it}} - 1) \ge 100, v$ es (in parenthesis) refer to Walc	where \bar{X} I tests

B. Data Issues

48. We identified problems with the series used in CGG (2007) as indicators of indebtedness and reserve adequacy. These are crucial variables for the assessment of the total effect of SDDS on the volatility of the exchange rate in CGG's model, since they are interacted with the RT dummy and are reported as having statistically significant effects on exchange rate volatility.

49. Indebtedness, D_{it} , is measured as (the log of) either government debt or external debt, as a percent of GDP.³⁰ In the original dataset, there are mismatches of both currency and frequency in constructing the ratios to GDP. For instance, CGG (2007) mistakenly divide government debt *in local currency* by nominal GDP *in U.S. dollars*. In addition, they use annual data on government and external debt, repeated every quarter within a year, and quarterly GDP data to construct the series of indebtedness. This strategy may be problematic if the quarterly GDP series is not "annualized" by, say, the moving sum of the previous four quarters. For some countries (e.g., Germany), the quarterly GDP series from the IMF's

³⁰ CGG uses the government debt-to-GDP ratio for advanced countries, and external debt otherwise.

International Financial Statistics (IFS)—the source of the GDP data used in CGG (2007)—represents the flow of GDP *within* the quarter and is, therefore, not annualized. In these cases, annual GDP is the sum of quarterly GDP.³¹ For the same level of annual debt, the computed debt-to GDP ratio in these cases will be overestimated by a factor of about four.

50. The reserve adequacy series, RA_{it} , used in CGG also suffers from currency mismatch. It is primarily computed as the (log of the) ratio of international reserves holdings (expressed in U.S. dollars) to short-term external debt (also in U.S. dollars), but when that series is not available government debt expressed in domestic currency is used.

51. Finally, CGG use quarterly data without seasonal adjustment, and thus it may contain unnecessary noise that reduces the accuracy of the estimations. In our robustness checks applied to the original data and in new estimations using an updated sample (see the next two subsections), we correct the above-mentioned potential problems with the series for D_{it} and RA_{it} , and assess the effect of seasonal adjustment on the original results.

C. Robustness Checks

52. Two types of robustness checks based on CGG's original dataset, sample period, and estimated equation are discussed: (i) placebo estimations (dates when countries start using the RT are replaced by counterfactual, false dates), and (ii) new estimations of equation (3) in which we use the original CGG dataset and same sample period while including more countries in the sample, correcting the problems identified above in the series of D_{it} and RA_{it} , and using seasonally adjusted data.

"Placebo" estimations

53. Table 8 shows the results from placebo estimations similar to those discussed in the previous section. Because of the interaction terms in equation (3), placebo tests are not as reliable as those reported in the previous section.³²

³¹ This is not the case, for example, with the *IFS* data on GDP for the United States.

³² This is because the estimated coefficient of RT can flip signs when interacted with a variable *X* that, by itself, is also correlated to the dependent variable. This correlation—if it is significant prior to when SDDS subscription begins, contaminates the interaction terms, affects the estimated coefficient on RT, and biases the placebo tests towards showing significant RT coefficients prior to treatment. Therefore, "passing" the test becomes more difficult and, therefore, provides a clear indication that RT dates are meaningful in terms of explaining the dependent variable. "Failing" the test, however, may be a consequence of the distortion just explained and must be taken with caution.

	Table 8. Pl	lacebo 7	Fests: Sensitiv	vity of CGG's Resu	Its to False RT	Adoption Dat	tes				
Determin	nistic RT Date Cl	hanges		Rando	m RT Date Changes						
RT dummy	Estimated			Number of Statisticall	y Significant Results	at the 1%, 5%,					
moved to	Coefficient (λ_1) <i>p</i> -value		and 10% levels in 100) Estimations of CGG	s equation (3)					
t ₀ -10	-0.04	0.67		year t $_0$ (RT date unchanged) allowed in randomization							
t ₀ -9	0.02	0.84	random changes between								
t ₀ -8	-0.02	0.86	significance t_0 -10 and t_0 +5 t_0 -5 and t_0 +5 t_0 -2 and t_0 +2 t_0 -5 and								
t ₀ -7	-0.01	0.93	1%	8	15	13	0				
t ₀ -6	-0.02	0.81	5%	14	31	27	3				
t ₀ -5	-0.11	0.29	10%	22	43	42	13				
t ₀ -4	-0.11	0.25	average $\hat{\lambda}$ 1	-0.12	-0.15	-0.16	-0.07				
t ₀ -3	-0.04	0.66									
t ₀ -2	-0.10	0.34		year t _o exc	luded from randomiza	tion					
t ₀ -1	-0.02	0.82			random chang	jes between					
t _o	-0.20	0.07	significance	t_0 -10 and t_0 +5	t_0 -5 and t_0 +5 t_0	-2 and t_0 +2	t_0 -5 and t_0 -2				
t ₀ +1	-0.35	0.00	1%	9	11	32	5				
t ₀ +2	-0.18	0.09	5%	12	22	35	8				
t ₀ +3	-0.26	0.02	10%	17	26	38	12				
t ₀ +4	-0.18	0.10	average $\hat{\lambda}_1$	-0.07	-0.11	-0.17	-0.04				
t ₀ +5	-0.21	0.05									
Source: A	Authors' calcul	lations usi	ing data from CG	G (2007).							

54. Nevertheless, in contrast to the placebo tests of the results in HW (2012), the test results reported here indicate that the treatment variable (i.e., *RT*) *is* robust to both deterministic and random placebos: when false *past* RT dates are used, the effect of RT on exchange rate volatility ceases to be statistically significant; similarly, when RT dates change randomly only backwards (last column), the frequency of statistically significant estimates of the RT effect becomes very low; but when the false RT dates come *after* the true date (*t*₀), the RT effect remains significant (at 10 percent or less). Therefore, the treatment only works at or after *t*₀, but never before it was actually implemented, suggesting that there is something special about the (true) RT dates in regard to the effect of the RT on the volatility of the exchange rate.

Additional robustness checks

55. Table 9 shows the results of additional robustness checks on CGG's estimations. For convenience, their original results are also shown (column 2). Using CGG's dataset, we first estimate their model using no interaction terms to show how important these terms are for the sign and significance of the RT coefficient. Their exclusion from equation (3) eliminates the effect of RT on exchange rate volatility, as the RT coefficient ceases to be significant, while the coefficients on the other regressors remain similar to the original estimates (column 3).

56. A second set of robustness checks relates to the way CGG control for different exchange rate regimes in their econometric model. This is a crucial step in any cross-country study of exchange rate volatility. CGG included dummy variables for different exchange rate regimes that they constructed following the classification approach of Levy-Yeyati and

Sturzenegger (2005)—LYS, for short.^{33,34} That approach considers fluctuations in the exchange rates of national currencies against a benchmark currency, but not necessarily the U.S. dollar, which is the currency of reference for the exchange rate volatility used in CGG (2007).³⁵ If a given currency is pegged to another currency that freely floats against the U.S. dollar, it is not clear whether the former should be classified as pegged when the reference is the U.S. dollar. This may be a problem in CGG, in which the dependent variable is always measured against the U.S. dollar.

		0	Driginal CGG o	data and sam	od)	Original data and sample period			
Variable		CGG original results	CGG, no interactions	Alternative exchange rate regime dummies	Volatility of benchmark currency vs . US\$	Corrected D_{it} and RA_{it}	HP- detrended $D_{ m it}$	Additional countries	Additional countries and HP-detrended D_{it}
Reserves Template(RT_{it})	,λ1	-0.20	-0.07	-0.25	-0.20	-0.32	-0.03	-0.17	-0.03
		(0.07)	(0.46)	(0.01)	(0.06)	(0.02)	(0.78)	(0.16)	(0.72)
RT_{it} × Debt/GDP ratio (D_{it})	,λ ₂	-0.14		-0.15	-0.15	-0.20	-0.42	-0.05	-0.57
		(0.01)		(0.00)	(0.01)	(0.11)	(0.33)	(0.64)	(0.29)
RT_{it} × Reserve Adequacy (RA_{it})	,λ ₃	-0.08		-0.08	-0.08	-0.04	0.02	-0.02	0.03
		(0.07)		(0.05)	(0.05)	(0.34)	(0.42)	(0.61)	(0.27)
Fixed exchange rate regimes		-0.33	-0.31	-0.90	-0.33				
		(0.00)	(0.00)	(0.00)	(0.00)				
Dirt floating exc. rate regimes		-0.14	-0.12	0.37	-0.14				
		(0.02)	(0.04)	(0.00)	(0.02)				
Floating exchange rate regime				0.24					
				(0.00)					
Volatility of the benchmark					0.96				
currency against the USD ($V*_{it}$)					(0.00)				

57. To account for possible problems associated with the use of LYS methodology, we estimate CGG's model using (i) an alternative set of dummy variables for the exchange rate regimes based on a modified version of the LYS approach in which the U.S. dollar is always the reference (column 4); and (ii) CGG's original dummy variables combined with a measure of the volatility of the benchmark currency against the U.S. dollar as an additional regressor (column 5). We find that CGG's model is robust to both changes—estimated coefficients on

³³ Fixed and managed ("dirty") floating exchange rate regimes are explicitly included in CGG's model, while fully flexible and "inconclusive" regimes, combined, form the reference category captured by the constant.

³⁴ The LYS approach relies on "clustering" observations along four mutually exclusive categories—fixed, managed float, float, and "inconclusive." Depending on the changes in nominal exchange rates (level and volatility), international reserves, and money base for country i at year t, observations are sorted into these four categories.

³⁵ For example, the Austrian schilling is classified by CGG as following a fixed exchange rate against the Deutsch mark over the period 1989–98. Accordingly, CGG assigned values of one and zero, respectively, to the dummy variables for fixed and dirty floating exchange rate regimes.

the key variables are very similar to the original, while the coefficients on the new variables are both significant and show the expected signs.

58. Third, we re-estimate CGG's model using "corrected" series of D_{it} and RA_{it} (column 6). Since data for indebtedness are available at annual frequency, we use annual GDP in U.S. dollars to compute D_{it} , when it represents the external debt-to-GDP ratio, and annual GDP in domestic currency when D_{it} represents the government debt-to-GDP ratio. For RA_{it} , we use the quarterly series of foreign reserve holdings as a percentage of the annual stocks (repeated every quarter) of short-term external debt or, when that series is not available, total external debt.³⁶ Both series are transformed using logs. When these corrections are applied, the coefficients of the interaction terms are no longer significant, but the estimated coefficient of *RT* remains negative and significant, in line with CGG's original conclusions.

59. However, because our corrected series of indebtedness was found to be nonstationary,³⁷ we also estimate the model using an HP-detrended series of D_{it} (column 7). In this case, all *RT*-related coefficients become statistically insignificant, in contradiction of CGG's original results.

60. Finally, we estimate the model over an extended sample that includes up to 14 additional countries, while covering the original sample period in CGG (2007). In Table 9, columns 8 and 9 show specifications using the corrected series of D_{it} without and with detrending, respectively. Unlike in CGG (2007), none of the *RT*-related coefficients remains negative and significant.

61. These results, especially those obtained using data that have been cleaned from the misconstructions noted in subsection III.B above, cast doubt on the robustness of the CGG estimates. In any case, even if one accepts the original CGG estimates of equation (3), as discussed in subsection III.A, one cannot conclude that the Reserve Template has had a statistically significant effect on the volatility of exchange rates.

D. Does the Reserve Template Reduce Exchange Rate Volatility?

62. In this subsection, we estimate alternative versions of equation (3) using a different set of domestic control variables and an updated sample—extended to include eight more years of data (up to 2013) and up to 22 new countries. As in the previous section, we present results from both pooled OLS and GMM estimations to mitigate endogeneity concerns, and

³⁶ Like CGG (2007), we use data on gross government debt positions and external debt stocks from the *WEO* database. Data on annual GDP in U.S. dollars also come from the *WEO*, while those on annual GDP in domestic currency and foreign reserve holdings come from the *IFS*. See Annex 1.

³⁷ The *p*-values for the rejection of the null hypothesis of nonstationarity according to three types of panel unit root tests—Levin, Lin, and Chu (2002); Im, Pesaran and Shin (2003); and the Augmented Dickey-Fuller (ADF) tests, henceforth LLC, IPS, and ADF, respectively—are 0.08, 0.22, and 0.13, respectively.

exclude very small and very poor economies from the sample. We also exclude outliers in the regressors, seasonally adjust the relevant quarterly data, and correct the previously discussed misconstructions in some series.³⁸

63. Our version of vector Ψ_{it} includes variables used by CGG—the dummy variables for fixed, managed floating, and floating exchange rate regimes, the volatility of money supply (M2), real GDP growth, the current account and (the first difference of) government balances, both as percentages of GDP, and a dummy variable for foreign exchange crises. We further add (i) ICRG indexes of political and financial risks (POLRISK and FINRISK, respectively), (ii) policy indicators discussed in the previous section (i.e., TRADEOPEN, FINOPEN, and FINDEPTH), and (iii) other indicators of macroeconomic fundamentals: the log-deviation of the real GDP level from its HP-trend (OUTPUT GAP, meant to capture the effects of the business cycle), the interest rate differential (relative to the U.S.), as well as the domestic CPI inflation rate and its standard deviation.³⁹ For the reasons explained in subsection III.C, we include the volatility of the reference currency used in the LYS procedure against the U.S. dollar as an additional regressor in vector Ψ_{it} .

64. In addition, following CGG (2007), measures of indebtedness, D_{it} , and reserve adequacy, RA_{it} , are included in the estimation, both separately and as interacted with the treatment variable, RT_{it} . Indebtedness is included as in the original definition of CGG (2007)—government debt, for industrialized economies, and external debt, otherwise—but computed in deviations from a smooth HP trend to eliminate the nonstationarity found in the data.⁴⁰ For robustness, we also consider one specification that uses only government debt as the measure of indebtedness. Two definitions of reserve adequacy are used: (i) reserves as a percentage of short-term debt (STD) or government debt (converted to U.S. dollars), as in CGG (2007); or, (ii) reserves as a percentage of short-term debt, total external debt (if STD is not available), or government debt (if the previous series are not available). The alternative definition aims at reducing the weight of government debt—already a component of D_{it} —in the measure of reserve adequacy, which ideally should capture countries' ability to service external payments.⁴¹

³⁸ See Annex 1.

³⁹ For series available on an annual basis, we repeat the value in all quarters within a year, which implies that they may not account for much of the time series variation, but can help capture the cross-country variation in the transmission of shocks to FDI. See Annex 1.

⁴⁰ Over the updated sample, the null hypothesis of a panel unit root in D_{it} (in both levels and logs) cannot be rejected at standard levels. The *p*-values in LLC, IPS, and ADF tests in levels (logs) are 0.13 (0.30), 1.00 (1.00), and 0.75 (0.56), respectively. RA_{it} , on the other hand, seems stationary: either in levels or logs, *p*-values are always below 0.01.

⁴¹ This may be an issue when reserve adequacy is computed as the ratio to government debt, since not all debt is external.

65. The results are shown in Table 10. All specifications use country fixed effects, a common linear trend, and country-specific AR(1) terms, following CGG (2007). All but one specification use period fixed effects. OLS and GMM versions are presented. Columns 2–9 refer to the authors' original specification of equation (3), either using the original or the alternative measure of RA_{it} discussed above. Columns 10–13 refer to estimations using our extended version of vector Ψ_{it} and a detrended measure of D_{it} . The same applies to columns 14–17, but without the interaction terms with RT_{it} . In columns 18–21, we use (detrended) government debt as a percentage of GDP instead of D_{it} , and the alternative version of RA_{it} , while in columns 22–25 we replace the period fixed effects by global control variables.⁴² Finally, the remaining columns show specifications resulting from a search routine that successively eliminates variables not statistically significant at the 10 percent level—applied to the full sample and also to subsamples for advanced and emerging-market economies.

66. We highlight three main points from Table 10. First, the negative estimated value of λ_1 reported in CGG (2007) is not always confirmed: i.e., it is not negative or not statistically significant at 10 percent or less. In particular, this result is not observed when we use either (i) the original CGG specification, or (ii) the extended list of regressors without interaction terms, or (iii) global variables to control for common factors. Negative and significant estimates of λ_1 are found, however, in the parsimonious model resulting from the search routine but, oddly, mainly because of advanced economies.⁴³

67. Second, across different specifications, the estimated values of λ_2 and λ_3 , differ widely from the original CGG results. In the case of λ_2 , except when government debt is used to represent indebtedness (with global control variables), the estimates are never significant. The estimates of λ_3 turn positive and statistically significant in most specifications.

68. Finally, and more importantly, in all specifications the estimated *total* effect of *RT* on the volatility of exchange rates, measured at either the mean or the median values of indebtedness and reserve adequacy, is not statistically significant.

⁴² We included measures of U.S. monetary policy (both change and "surprises" in the Federal Funds Rate), global risk (VIX market volatility index, in logs), and volatility (standard deviation) of both oil prices and world real GDP growth.

⁴³ It is reasonable to think that the increased transparency effect of the reserve template would not come from countries that presumably are already relatively more transparent regarding data.

					Table	10. Estir	nation F	Results-	-Exchai	nge Rate	e Volatil	ity						
		Original CGG	S specification			Extended set of control variables							F	arsimonious n	nodel (search r	outine with 10)% significanc	e)
Model	Original D	and RA	Original D, a	Iternative RA	D (detrend	ed) and RA	No Inte	ractions	Gov. Debt, a	Iternative RA	Global	Factors	Full S	ample	Advanced E	Economies	Emerging	Economies
Variable	Coef. prob.	Coef. prob.	Coef. prob.	Coef. prob.	Coef. prob	Coef. prob.	Coef. prob.	Coef. prob.	Coef. prob.	Coef. prob.	Coef. prob.	Coef. prob.	Coef. prob.	Coef. prob.	Coef. prob.	Coef. prob.	Coef. prob.	Coef. prob.
C Reserves Template, <i>RT</i> (*) <i>RT</i> × <i>D</i> (*)	-2.22 0.00 0.06 0.70 -0.05 0.19	5.26 0.46 0.14 0.71 -0.05 0.50	-2.30 0.00 0.02 0.88 -0.04 0.22	-0.92 0.19 0.09 0.80 -0.05 0.49	-1.80 0.00 -0.16 0.03 0.00 0.43) 1.38 0.33 3 -0.21 0.10 3 0.00 0.65	<mark>-1.91 0.00</mark> 0.01 0.79	11.36 0.06 0.00 0.95	-2.57 0.00 -0.17 0.02	6.70 0.23 -0.19 0.06	-3.07 0.00 -0.09 0.18	-3.17 0.00 -0.12 0.24	-2.49 0.00 -0.13 0.01	10.28 0.03 -0.14 0.01	-2.25 0.00 -0.09 0.04	-2.86 0.00 -0.10 0.02	-3.37 0.74 0.02 0.74	-0.92 0.52
$RT \times RA$ (*) Indebtedness, D (*) Reserve adequacy, RA (*)	0.03 0.10 0.05 0.21 -0.05 0.02	0.01 0.59 0.06 0.29 -0.01 0.62	0.03 0.04 0.07 0.06 -0.04 0.03	0.02 0.33 0.07 0.18 -0.02 0.50	0.04 0.0 ⁻ 0.00 0.32 -0.05 0.03	0.05 0.06 0.00 0.83 0.05 0.29	0.00 0.46 -0.01 0.42	0.00 0.72 -0.01 0.81	0.04 0.01 -0.02 0.31	0.04 0.05 -0.01 0.64	0.03 0.08 -0.03 0.11	0.03 0.15 -0.03 0.36	0.03 0.00	0.04 0.00	0.03 0.00	0.04 0.00		
RT × Gov. Debt Gov. Debt									0.00 0.87 0.00 0.51	0.00 0.97 0.00 0.96	0.01 0.02 0.00 0.53	0.02 0.03 0.00 0.79					-0.01 0.06 0.01 0.01	
FX CRISIS (*) Volat. Benchmark Currency Exc. Rate Regime: FIX (*) Exc. Rate Regime: Dirty FLOAT (*	0.71 0.00 -0.12 0.00 -0.01 0.77	2.22 0.28 -0.13 0.00 -0.02 0.60	0.72 0.00 -0.12 0.00 -0.01 0.84	2.25 0.26 -0.12 0.00 -0.01 0.68	0.74 0.00 0.16 0.0 ⁷ -0.05 0.18 0.08 0.02	1.83 0.46 0.14 0.13 -0.05 0.30 0.10 0.04	0.75 0.00 0.16 0.01 -0.07 0.08 0.07 0.03	1.85 0.45 0.13 0.13 -0.06 0.15 0.09 0.05	0.60 0.00 0.13 0.02 -0.03 0.40 0.09 0.01	1.45 0.36 0.09 0.19 -0.03 0.46 0.09 0.02	0.82 0.00 0.19 0.00 -0.05 0.20 0.10 0.01	3.17 0.21 0.11 0.32 -0.03 0.57 0.11 0.01	0.70 0.00 0.17 0.00 0.07 0.01	0.19 0.00	0.82 0.00 0.20 0.00	0.22 0.00	-0.15 0.01	8.51 0.03 -0.14 0.01
Exc. Rate Regime: FLOAT POLRISK (*) FINRISK TRADEOPEN (*)	-0.04 0.62	-0.04 0.64	-0.04 0.38	-0.03 0.59	0.18 0.00 0.00 0.67 -0.01 0.1 0.01 0.89	0.19 0.00 7 0.00 0.77 1 0.00 0.50 9 0.05 0.65 0 0.22 0.51	0.18 0.00 0.00 0.65 0.00 0.21 0.00 0.97	0.20 0.00 0.00 0.73 0.00 0.73 0.04 0.70	0.17 0.00 0.00 0.52 -0.01 0.01 0.11 0.19	0.17 0.00 0.00 0.40 -0.01 0.13 0.03 0.79	0.17 0.00 0.00 0.52 -0.01 0.07 -0.02 0.73	0.17 0.00 0.00 0.86 -0.01 0.02 -0.01 0.92	0.19 0.00	0.18 0.00 -0.01 0.00	0.11 0.00	0.12 0.00	0.15 0.00	
FINOPEN FINDEPTH OUTPUT GAP INT. RATE DIFFERENTIAL GDP. GROWTH (*)	0.00 0.99	0.00 0.91	0.00 0.58	0.00 0.51	-0.01 0.48 0.00 0.33 1.85 0.02	3 -0.02 0.51 3 0.00 0.75 2 0.81 0.65	0.00 0.87 0.00 0.58 1.81 0.02	0.00 0.89 0.00 0.94 0.70 0.70	-0.02 0.27 0.00 0.08 1.08 0.14 0.01 0.03 0.00 0.79	-0.02 0.42 0.00 0.06 1.53 0.33 0.00 0.73 0.00 0.76	-0.01 0.67 0.00 0.39 1.07 0.12	-0.02 0.47 0.00 0.96 -0.50 0.69	0.00 0.06 1.48 0.01 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.07 2.06 0.00	-0.04 0.02 0.00 0.01 1.74 0.00	-0.05 0.01 0.00 0.01 2.24 0.00 -0.02 0.00	0.01 0.00	
INFLATION (*) Volatility of Money Growth (*) (CA/GDP) (*) Δ (GOV. BAL./GDP) (*)	-0.04 0.28 0.02 0.31 -0.01 0.02 0.00 0.11	-0.02 0.48 0.00 0.87 -0.01 0.02 0.00 0.11	-0.04 0.32 0.02 0.24 -0.01 0.00 0.00 0.11	-0.02 0.55 0.01 0.82 -0.01 0.00 0.00 0.11	-0.01 0.79 0.02 0.23 -0.01 0.01 0.00 0.78	-0.02 0.59 3 0.02 0.57 -0.01 0.01 3 0.00 0.27	-0.02 0.61 0.02 0.31 -0.01 0.01 0.00 0.74	-0.03 0.45 0.01 0.68 -0.01 0.00 0.00 0.26	0.01 0.96 0.02 0.34 0.00 0.11 0.00 0.25	0.48 0.33 0.02 0.48 0.00 0.39 0.00 0.89	0.62 0.01 0.00 0.90 -0.01 0.00 0.00 0.55	0.30 0.40 0.02 0.56 -0.01 0.00 0.00 0.01	-0.01 0.03	-0.01 0.00	0.03 0.01	1.53 0.02 0.06 0.00		
D(FFR) FFR_SUPRISE LOG(VIX) LOG(SD_OIL) LOG(SD_WGRWTH)											0.00 0.97 0.29 0.27 0.17 0.00 0.07 0.05 0.00 0.70	0.05 0.15 -0.19 0.61 0.06 0.46 -0.06 0.51 0.03 0.16						
@TREND AR(1)	0.00 0.36	-0.08 0.29	0.00 0.37	-0.02 0.16	0.00 0.9	-0.04 0.06	0.00 0.80	-0.16 0.02	0.00 0.64	-0.10 0.10	0.00 0.01	0.00 0.02	0.00 0.04	-0.14 0.01	0.00 0.00	0.01 0.00	0.01 0.93	-0.02 0.18
Periods Cross-sections Observations Adj. R ² Normality: # of countries	90 68 3894 0.82 39	90 68 3875 0.81 33	90 70 3943 0.82 44	90 70 3923 0.82 37	84 63 3263 0.80 40	83 63 3198 0.76 35	84 63 3236 0.80 41	83 63 3198 0.76 31	84 59 2837 0.83 43	83 59 2795 0.83 39	76 63 2905 0.82 45	76 63 2869 0.75 34	85 67 3430 0.81 46	84 69 3533 0.80 41	87 25 1624 0.89 21	87 25 1615 0.89 19	95 42 2339 0.86 25	95 49 3205 0.79 15
Average Marginal Effect At the median At the mean	effect <i>prob.</i> -1.5% 0.68 -2.5% 0.50	effect <i>prob.</i> -1.3% 0.73 -1.7% 0.64	effect <i>prob.</i> -2.5% 0.49 -3.6% 0.32	effect <i>prob.</i> -2.0% 0.59 -2.7% 0.47	effect <i>prob.</i> 0.2% 0.96 -1.3% 0.75	effect <i>prob.</i> -0.01 0.79 -0.03 0.54	effect <i>prob.</i> 1.1% 0.79 1.1% 0.79	effect <i>prob.</i> -0.3% 0.95 -0.3% 0.95	effect prob. -2.2% 0.56 -3.9% 0.32	effect <i>prob.</i> -3.0% 0.45 -4.7% 0.26	effect <i>prob.</i> 0.9% 0.79 -0.5% 0.90	effect <i>prob.</i> 0.9% 0.83 -1.0% 0.81	effect <i>prob.</i> -1.3% 0.68 -2.8% 0.39	effect <i>prob.</i> -1.2% 0.74 -2.6% 0.45	effect prob. -2.4% 0.49 -2.2% 0.53	effect <i>prob.</i> -1.4% 0.69 -1.1% 0.75	effect <i>prob.</i> 2.1% 0.72 2.2% 0.69	effect <i>prob.</i> n.a n.a n.a n.a

Source: Authors' calculations. Note: (*) indicates that the same or similar series were used in CGG (2007); *p*-values computed using robust standard errors (cross-section clustering).

69. These results cast doubt on the conclusions reported in CGG (2007). On the one hand, they show the lack of robustness of the estimates across different specifications of equation (3). On the other hand, they are broadly in line with our interpretation of those in CGG (2007): the interaction terms seem to help the estimated coefficient of RT become negative and significant, but they are not enough to make the *total* effect of RT on exchange rate volatility negative and significant when considering the mean and/or the median levels of indebtedness and reserve adequacy.

70. Table 11, constructed based on the estimations of the parsimonious model using the full sample reported in Table 10, shows that the total effect of the Reserves Template is not significant across different values of reserve adequacy, except for cases of low levels of reserve adequacy (first quartile of the distribution).

NI-Nelateu Esti	imated Co	efficient	ts		Total Effects								
			OLS	GMM				OLS	GMN				
eserves Template	RT _{it})	$= \lambda_1$	-0.13	-0.14	Mean RA	it		3.17	3.20				
			(0.01)	(0.01)) Marginal effect of RT at mean RA ⁽¹⁾ -2.8% -2.6 (0.39) (0.4								
T_{it} × Debt/GDP rat	tio (D _{it})	$= \lambda_2$	n.a	n.a									
								OLS	GMN				
T_{it} × Reserve Adec	quacy (RA	$_{it}) = \lambda_3$	0.03	0.04	Median R	A _{it}		3.60	3.62				
			(0.00)	(0.00)	Marginal	effect of RT	at median	RA -1.3%	-1.2%				
								(0.68)	(0.74)				
larginal Effects at c	Full Si OLS	anple GMM	KA _{it} (or <i>D_{it}</i> , AE sub OLS	sample GMM	EME sub OLS	osample GMM						
First Quartile	-7.4%	-7.5%	-	-5.8%	-5.7%	3.8%	0.0%						
	(0.04)	(0.05)		(0.13)	(0.12)	(0.51)	n.a						
Median	-1.3%	-1.2%		-2.4%	-1.4%	-5.8%	0.0%						
	(0.68)	(0.74)		(0.49)	(0.69)	(0.72)	n.a						
	1.8%	2.2%		2.5%	5.0%	-5.8%	0.0%						
Third Quartile	1.0/0				(0.21)	(0.94)	na						
Third Quartile	(0.60)	(0.56)		(0.48)	(0.21)	(0.54)	11.a						
Third Quartile Mean	(0.60) -2.8%	<mark>(0.56)</mark> -2.6%		(0.48) -2.2%	-1.1%	-5.8%	0.0%						

and are computed using the delta method.

71. The original results reported in CGG (2007) survive the placebo tests: "false positives" typically do not occur—i.e., the effect of the SDDS on exchange rate volatility is not observed before the date when a country actually began subscribing to the SDDS—and, when they do occur, they are concentrated around the actual SDDS dates. However, the results are not robust to (i) the addition of more countries in the control group; (ii) a correction made to two series—critical for the original results—that are erroneously constructed; (iii) the removal of interaction terms with these two variables; or (iv) the use of alternative ways to control for global factors.

72. More importantly, when considering the total effect of the RT—rather than just its direct effect—the results reported in CGG (2007) do not support the conclusion that the adoption of the RT helps reduce exchange rate volatility. The interaction of both indebtedness and reserve adequacy with the RT indicator introduced in CGG's model help generate a negative and statistically significant coefficient for RT, but this coefficient only reflects the direct effect of RT. The indirect effects of such interaction terms were not taken into account by CGG when measuring the total RT effect.

73. Using their dataset and estimation results, we find that the total effect of RT on exchange rate volatility, when properly measured, is not statistically significant. Consistently, when we use CGG's data and model *without* interaction terms, the direct effect (which then becomes the total effect) of RT on exchange rate volatility is also not statistically significant.

74. Finally, when we estimate the CGG model over an extended sample period, adding more countries and using alternative sets of regressors, we confirm the results from the robustness checks on the original dataset and model. With the interaction terms in the regressions, we find: (i) a negative and significant coefficient for the direct effect of RT on exchange rate volatility in some specifications, in line with CGG (2007), but not in all specifications; and (ii) no statistically significant (total) effect of RT on exchange rate volatility. Without interactions, the coefficient of the RT dummy is again found to be not statistically significant.

75. Taken together, the results reported in this section do not provide support for the conclusion in CGG (2007) that adoption of the RT reduces a country's exchange rate volatility.

V. IMF DATA INITIATIVES AND SOVEREIGN BOND SPREADS

76. This section studies the effects of GDDS and SDDS on sovereign bond yields and spreads. Cady and Pellechio (2006), henceforth CP, report that subscription to the SDDS and GDDS reduces launch spreads on the sovereign bonds of 26 emerging market economies by an average of 20 percent and 8 percent, respectively.

A. Cady and Pellechio (2006)

77. Using data on 320 new issues of sovereign bonds denominated in U.S. dollars, Japanese yen, and euros from 26 emerging market and developing countries that had access to private capital markets between 1989 and 2004, CP (2006) estimate a log-linear panel regression of sovereign bond "costs" on a set of control variables that reflect both bond and country characteristics and dummy variables for participation in GDDS and SDDS. The estimated model in CP (2006) is:

$$C_{it} = \beta + \alpha_i + \mu Time + \lambda_1 GDDS_{it} + \lambda_2 SDDS_{it} + \theta \Psi_{it} + \varepsilon_{it}, \qquad (4)$$

where C_{it} is either the (log) spread or yield, measured *at launch*, of sovereign bonds issued by country *i* in year *t*, β is a constant, α_i is a country-specific fixed effect, and *Time* is a linear time trend; $GDDS_{it}$ and $SDDS_{it}$ are dummy variables that take the value of one if country *i* is a subscriber of GDDS and SDDS at year *t*, respectively; Ψ_{it} is a vector of control variables, and ε_{it} is an error term.

78. The vector Ψ_{it} includes macroeconomic fundamentals—the quarterly rate of real GDP growth, inflation differentials vis-à-vis the United States, primary fiscal balance, external debt-to-export ratio, an indicator of participation in IMF programs, and the ICRG index of country institutional quality. It also includes bond maturity, the yield of the benchmark risk-free bond, and dummy variables for the currency of denomination—euro and yen; the U.S. dollar is used as reference.⁴⁴

79. The estimated effects of the GDDS and SDDS are captured by parameters λ_1 and λ_2 . Their estimated values suggest that the SDDS reduces launch spreads by an average of 20 percent, while participation in the GDDS reduces spreads by an average of 8 percent.

B. Data Issues

80. We have two concerns regarding the dataset used in CP (2006). First is the use of country-quarter observations that should actually be treated as missing: bonds are not issued in every quarter, which implies missing values of the dependent variable (either yields or spreads). These missing observations are nevertheless included in the CP sample, replaced by yields or spreads from the last observed bond issuance. Potentially, data from several quarters in the past can be used to represent the dependent variable at any given quarter, introducing both artificial persistency in the data and, possibly, bias (if spreads and yields trend up or down, say in response to global or domestic conditions between bond issuances).

⁴⁴ The authors use the Bonds, Equities, and Loans (BEL) database for the series of spreads, yields, maturity, and currency of denomination of sovereign bonds. See CP (2006), pp. 20–21 and Annex 1.

81. Second, in any quarter there may be more than one bond issuance, with different yields and/or spreads.⁴⁵ CP (2006) only uses data from the first issuance, leaving out information on all other issuances during the same quarter. In our estimations of alternative versions of equation (4), we structure the panel data in a way that circumvents both these concerns.

C. Robustness Checks

82. As in the previous section, we present two types of robustness checks on the results reported in CP (2006): (i) placebo tests whereby the actual GDDS and SDDS dates are replaced by false dates; and (ii) estimations of equation (4) over different samples, using different control variables.

Placebo tests

83. Table 12 displays the results of placebo tests on CP's estimation of equation (4) using spreads.⁴⁶ For both the deterministic and random changes in SDDS/GDDS dates, three cases are discussed: (i) only GDDS dates are changed, (ii) only SDDS dates are changed, and (iii) both SDDS and GDDS dates are changed. In what follows, let t_0 be the date when country *i* receives "treatment" (i.e., subscribes to the GDDS or SDDS). Taken together, the results in Table 12 suggest that the results in CP (2006) are robust to placebo tests—i.e., estimates of the GDDS or SDDS effects do not hold unless treatment is received. The GDSS and SDDS dummies tend to affect spreads only at t_0 or after, while false positives are rare and, when they occur, tend to be concentrated within two to four quarters from t_0 .⁴⁷

84. For instance, when only false GDDS dates are used, the original results (at t_0) do not hold: the estimated coefficient associated with the GDDS (λ_1) is either not statistically significant or is positive, while the SDDS coefficient (λ_2) is always significant and very similar to the original estimate. Moreover, the frequency of statistically significant estimates of λ_1 in random placebos is no higher than 40 percent, while that of estimates of λ_2 is at 99 percent.

85. Results in CP (2006) are also robust when only false SDDS dates are considered, although here the evidence is less strong. The estimated GDDS coefficient is always significant and close in value to the original estimate (especially when the SDDS dates are

⁴⁵ Possible reasons are: inflation-indexed versus non-indexed bonds, floating versus fixed rates, different maturities, or bonds issued in different currencies.

⁴⁶ The results of placebo tests on the yields equation—available from the authors upon request—are broadly similar.

⁴⁷ This may indicate that the effects of data initiatives could start at some time prior to the actual subscription, as countries prepare themselves to meet the SDDS requirements.

moved only a few quarters before or after t_0). But the SDDS coefficients are typically not significant when the SDDS dates are moved backwards by more than four quarters from t_0 . They tend to be significant only when the false SDDS dates are within two quarters before and three quarters after t_0 . This is not necessarily a reason for concern.⁴⁸ However, in random placebo tests, while the frequency of statistically significant estimates of λ_1 is very high, that of λ_2 is also high—above 60 percent, in some cases, even considering intervals larger than six months around t_0 . This casts some doubt on the robustness of the original results.

86. Finally, the results are also somewhat robust to moving both GDDS and SDDS dates to counterfactual, false dates: (i) negative and significant coefficients typically are only observed after the actual subscription dates; (ii) the frequency of significant results is typically low (less than 50 percent) in random placebos; and (iii) false positives are concentrated around two quarters of t_0 .

Different control variables and sample

87. One concern regarding the econometric model in CP (2006) is that it does not control for the effects of common factors on the spreads and yields of all countries. Equation (4) uses neither period fixed effects nor global control variables, but only a time trend, which may be too blunt to account for those factors.

88. Table 13 shows the robustness of the original CP (2006) estimates to (i) controlling for global factors that could potentially affect bond issuances from all countries in the sample—using either period fixed effects or selected measures of global liquidity and risk conditions (VIX, unanticipated shocks in the U.S. monetary policy rate, and global capital flows as a percentage of global GDP); (ii) the removal of missing observations in quarters without bond issuances; (iii) different subsamples according to the currency of bond denomination (U.S. dollar, euro, or yen); and (iv) updated samples, including additional countries or more recent periods.⁴⁹ For convenience, the original results are shown in column 2. All results, except for the robustness tests to (iv), in columns 9–10, are obtained using the original dataset in CP (2006).

89. The results for the effects of GDDS and SDDS are somewhat robust to the alternative estimations in Table 13, but not always. For instance, the results from CP (2006) hold when equation (4) is estimated using global control variables and the original dataset (column 4), or when updated data are used while keeping the same countries as in the original sample (column 9). However, the results are not robust to the remaining alternative setups.

⁴⁸ See previous footnote.

⁴⁹ The CP original sample covered the period 1991Q1–2004Q4. We extended it until the end of 2013.

				Or	ly GDDS Date	Changes						
Dete	erminist	ic Date Cha	anges				Random	Date Cha	nge	S		
GDDS dummy	GDDS	3 dummy	SDDS	dummy	Number of S	Statisticall	y Significa	ant Result	s at	the 5%	and 10%	levels
moved to	λ_1	p-value	λ_2	p-value		per 100	Estimatio	ins of CP's	s Ec	quation (4)	
t ₀ -10	0.16	0.00	-0.14	0.00			GDDS dui	nmy coef	ficie	ent		
t ₀ -9	0.02	0.50	-0.17	0.00		year t ₀	included	λ1	_	year t ₀	excluded	λ1
t ₀ -8	-0.03	0.39	-0.17	0.00	Time Interval	5%	10%	Average		5%	10%	Averag
t ₀ -7	0.07	0.02	-0.16	0.00	t ₀ -10 , t ₀ +5	23	30	0.02	0	35	39	0.03
t ₀ -6	0.01	0.81	-0.17	0.00	t_0-5 , t_0+5	17	25	0.00	0	17	23	0.02
t ₀ -5	0.04	0.24	-0.17	0.00	t ₀ -2 , t ₀ +2	24	31	0.00	0	18	27	0.03
t ₀ -4	-0.01	0.62	-0.17	0.00	t ₀ -5 , t ₀ -1	33	37	0.05	0	33	40	0.05
t ₀ -3	0.05	0.13	-0.16	0.00								
t ₀ -2	0.10	0.00	-0.16	0.00			SDDS dur	nmy coef	ficie	nt		
t ₀ -1	0.06	0.05	-0.17	0.00		year t ₀	included	λ_2		year t ₀	excluded	λ_2
t _o	-0.10	0.00	-0.19	0.00	Time Interval	5%	10%	Average	-	5%	10%	Averag
t ₀ +1	-0.04	0.27	-0.17	0.00	t ₀ -10 , t ₀ +5	99	99	-0.17	0	99	99	-0.17
t ₀ +2	0.00	0.99	-0.17	0.00	t_0-5 , t_0+5	99	99	-0.17	0	99	99	-0.17
t ₀ +3	-0.06	0.11	-0.17	0.00	t_0-2 , t_0+2	99	99	-0.17	0	99	99	-0.17
t ₀ +4	-0.06	0.14	-0.18	0.00	t ₀ -5 , t ₀ -1	99	99	-0.17	0	99	99	-0.17
t ₀ +5	-0.06	0.10	-0.17	0.00								
Dete	erminist	ic Date Cha	anges	Or	nly SDDS Date	Changes	Random	Date Cha	nge	s		
	GDDS	Sdummy	-	dummy	Number of 9	Statistical	v Significa	ant Result	e at	the 5%	and 10%	امريماد
mound to	- 0000				Number of C	nor 100	Fatimatia		за. . Га	une 570		ICVCI3
moved to	Λ1	p-value	Λ2	p-value		per 100	Estimatio		SEC	quation (+)	
t ₀ -10	-0.06	0.06	0.01	0.85			GDDS dui	mmy coef	ficie	ent		
t ₀ -9	-0.06	0.05	-0.04	0.22		year t ₀	included	λ1		year t ₀	excluded	λ_1
t ₀ -8	-0.06	0.06	-0.02	0.58	Time Interval	5%	10%	Average	_	5%	10%	Averag
t ₀ -7	-0.06	0.08	0.07	0.07	t ₀ -10 , t ₀ +5	64	98	-0.07	0	59	99	-0.07
t ₀ -6	-0.06	0.05	-0.04	0.21	t_0-5 , t_0+5	64	97	-0.07	0	66	98	-0.07
t ₀ -5	-0.07	0.04	-0.04	0.31	t_0-2 , t_0+2	97	99	-0.08	0	91	99	-0.07
t ₀ -4	-0.08	0.02	-0.15	0.00	t ₀ -5 , t ₀ -1	59	94	-0.07	0	57	95	-0.07
t ₀ -3	-0.05	0.10	0.13	0.00								
t ₀ -2	-0.07	0.04	-0.07	0.06			SDDS dur	nmy coefi	ficie	nt		
t ₀ -1	-0.07	0.04	-0.08	0.04		year t ₀	included	λ2		year t_0	excluded	λ_2
t_0	-0.10	0.00	-0.19	0.00	Time Interval	5%	10%	Average	-	5%	10%	Averac
t_0+1	-0.09	0.01	-0.21	0.00	t_0-10, t_0+5	44	53	-0.05	0	33	43	-0.04
t ₀ +2	-0.07	0.03	-0.09	0.02	t_0-5 , t_0+5	51	61	-0.06	0	51	60	-0.07
t _o +3	-0.07	0.02	-0.14	0.00	t_0-2, t_0+2	82	88	-0.11	0	76	81	-0.11
to+4	-0.06	0.02	0.07	0.08	to-5, to-1	50	62	_0_04	0	52	60	_0.04
t ₀ +5	-0.07	0.05	-0.02	0.52		50	02	-0.04	0	52	00	-0.04
Detr	arminiat	ia Data Chi		Changes	to both GDDS a	and SDDS	Dates	Data Cha				
Dele			anges				Random	Date Cha	nye	5		
SDDS dummy	GDDS	3 dummy	SDDS	dummy	Number of S	Statisticall	y Significa	ant Result	s at	the 5%	and 10%	levels
moved to	Λ1	p-value	Λ2	p-value		per 100	Estimatio		SEC	quation (4)	
t ₀ -10	0.19	0.00	0.04	0.29			GDDS dui	nmy coef	ticie	ent		
t ₀ -9	0.03	0.29	-0.04	0.30	T	year t ₀	included	λ1	-	year t ₀	excluded	λ1
ι ₀ -8	-0.01	0.65	-0.02	0.58	Time Interval	5%	10%	Average		5%	10%	Averag
t ₀ -/	0.11	0.00	0.08	0.02	$t_0 - 10, t_0 + 5$	27	35	0.04	0	42	48	0.04
t ₀ -б	0.02	0.52	-0.04	0.31	t ₀ -5, t ₀ +5	16	23	0.01	0	23	26	0.03
t ₀ -5	0.05	0.09	-0.02	0.52	t_0-2 , t_0+2	25	31	0.01	0	21	27	0.03
t ₀ -4	-0.02	0.55	-0.15	0.00	t ₀ -5 , t ₀ -1	42	50	0.06	0	41	48	0.06
t ₀ -3	0.11	0.00	0.15	0.00								
t ₀ -2	0.11	0.00	-0.05	0.14			SDDS dur	nmy coef	ficie	nt		
t ₀ -1	0.06	0.06	-0.06	0.11		year t ₀	included	λ2		year t ₀	excluded	λ_2
t _o	-0.10	0.00	-0.19	0.00	Time Interval	5%	10%	Average	-	5%	10%	Avera
t ₀ +1	-0.07	0.04	-0.22	0.00	t ₀ -10, t ₀ +5	42	52	-0.05	0	30	36	-0.02
~	-0.01	0.84	-0.08	0.02	t5.t_+5	45	59	-0.06	ñ	49	58	-0.06
t_+2	0.01	0.04	0.00	0.02	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	70	04	_0 11	0	7/	79	_0.00
t ₀ +2 t _c +3	_0 07	0.05	_0 15	0.00	I I /	16	~ ~ ~					-u. IL
t_0+2 t_0+3 t_0+4	-0.07	0.05	-0.15	0.00	$t_{0}-2, t_{0}+2$	76	04 E0	0.00	0	40	50	0.00
$t_{0}+2$ $t_{0}+3$ $t_{0}+4$ $t_{0}+5$	-0.07 -0.02	0.05	-0.15 0.07	0.00	t ₀ -2 , t ₀ +2 t ₀ -5 , t ₀ -1	76 47	64 58	-0.03	0	49	58	-0.03

			Origina	al CP (2006) Da	ita			Updat	ted Data		
Variable	CP(2006) original results	Period fixed effects	Global control variables	No missing observations	US\$ bonds only	€ bonds only	¥ bonds only	Same countries	Additional countries		
Spreads											
GDDS, λ_1	-0.09	-0.09	-0.09	0.56	-0.15	0.06	n.a.	-0.09	-0.03		
	(0.00)	(0.06)	(0.01)	(0.00)	(0.00)	(0.59)	n.a.	(0.01)	(0.12)		
SDDS, λ_2	-0.19	-0.05	-0.19	-0.07	-0.04	-2.05	-3.42	-0.19	-0.01		
	(0.00)	(0.29)	(0.00)	(0.28)	(0.40)	(0.01)	(0.36)	(0.00)	(0.29)		
Yields											
GDDS, λ_1	-0.03	-0.02	-0.04	0.17	-0.06	0.09		-0.04	-0.02		
	(0.00)	(0.43)	(0.01)	(0.02)	(0.00)	(0.01)		(0.01)	(0.01)		
SDDS, λ_2	-0.09	-0.01	-0.11	-0.09	-0.02	-0.42	-1.25	-0.11	-0.04		
	(0.00)	(0.76)	(0.00)	(0.01)	(0.17)	(0.51)	(0.50)	(0.00)	(0.00)		

D. Do IMF Data Dissemination Initiatives Help Reduce Sovereign Borrowing Costs?

90. Using an updated sample of quarterly data from 90 countries over 1991Q1–2013Q4, substantially larger than that used in CP (2006), we estimate the following panel equation:

$$C_{its} = \beta + \alpha_{is} + \mu_t + \lambda_1 GDDS_{its} + \lambda_2 SDDS_{its} + \gamma X_{its} + \theta \Psi_{its} + \varepsilon_{its},$$
(5)

where C_{its} is the spread or yield (in logs) of a bond issued in currency *s* (U.S. dollar, euro, or yen), at time *t*, by country *i*; β is a constant, α_{is} and μ_t are country-currency and period fixed effects, respectively; $GDDS_{its}$ and $SDDS_{its}$ are the dummy variables for subscription to IMF data initiatives; X_{its} is a vector of bond characteristics; Ψ_{its} is a vector of domestic control variables, and ε_{it} is an error term. In alternative specifications of (5), period fixed effects are replaced by a linear time trend and a vector of global control variables.⁵⁰

91. Equation (5) differs from CP's original equation (4) in four important respects. First, in the panel structure, we split the country cross-sections into three groups—to accommodate bond issues in U.S. dollars, euros, and yen. This allows us to use the average yield or spread (weighted by the nominal value) of bond issues in each currency of denomination within a quarter—rather than just the first observation, as in CP (2006). Second, we treat observations

⁵⁰ The vector of global control variables includes: total and unanticipated changes in U.S. monetary policy rates, the VIX index of market volatility, and the standard deviations (within a quarter) of oil prices and world real GDP growth.

from periods with no bond issuance in currency *s* as missing and exclude them from the sample. These two changes mitigate our concerns discussed in subsection V.B.

92. Third, we control for common factors using period fixed effects (or global variables). Lastly, in addition to the domestic control variables used in CP (2006), we include in Ψ_{it} : ICRG measures of political⁵¹ and financial risk; measures of financial openness (FINOPEN) and financial market depth (FINDEPTH);⁵² one measure of the business cycle (OUTPUT GAP); both the relative size and productivity level (proxy by GDP and per capita GDP, respectively) vis-à-vis the United States; the standard deviation of inflation; and the five-year-ahead *WEO* forecast of real GDP growth.⁵³

93. The estimation results for different specifications of equation (5) for spreads and yields are displayed in Table 14(a)–(b). As in the previous sections, we present alternative versions of the model using: (i) restricted sets of regressors (columns 2–5 and 6–9); (ii) the full set of regressors—using either period fixed effects (columns 10–13), global variables and a time trend (columns 14–17), or currency-country fixed effects (columns 18–21); and (iii) a parsimonious model—resulting from a search routine that successively eliminates variables not statistically significant at the 10 percent level—estimated on the full sample using either period fixed effects (columns 26–29) to control for common factors working across countries.

94. In what follows, we refer to results in Tables 14(a)–(b). First, note that neither the SDDS nor the GDDS coefficient is negative and statistically significant across different specifications of (5) for spreads. The same is true for yields, except that a *positive* estimated coefficient of the GDDS dummy is obtained using the most restricted specification. Thus, after updating the sample and addressing the data-related concerns discussed above (subsection V.B), we cannot confirm the results in CP (2006): we fail to find evidence that IMF data standards initiatives help to reduce sovereign borrowing costs.

95. Second, as in previous sections, our OLS and GMM estimations are broadly consistent with each other—which mitigates concerns about endogeneity. Normality tests on the residuals do not seem to indicate any problem. Third, the estimated coefficients on the remaining variables, when significant, typically have the expected sign. In particular:

⁵¹ The index of political risk incorporates an index of institutional quality in line with that used in CP (2006).

⁵² As in the previous section, we repeat the values of series only available at annual frequency in all quarters within the year. See Annex 1.

⁵³ For a description of the data and sources, see Annex 1.

- Yields and spreads in bonds denominated in U.S. dollars seem higher on average than those of yen-denominated bonds. The same is true for yields (but not spreads) of euro-denominated bonds.
- Longer maturities and higher benchmark interest rates are positively associated with higher yields, but typically do not translate into higher spreads.
- Lower degrees of political and financial risk⁵⁴ and deeper financial markets are associated with lower yields. Political and financial risks are also positively correlated with spreads. Financial openness is associated with higher spreads (but not yields), but only in some specifications.⁵⁵
- Bonds issued during economic booms—when the level of real GDP is above its HP-trend—tend to be associated with lower spreads and yields. Expected future growth is also negatively correlated with sovereign borrowing costs in some, but not all, specifications.⁵⁶ The inflation differential is typically not significant and seems irrelevant.
- Richer and smaller economies—as defined by higher per capita and total GDP relative to that of the U.S., respectively—seem to issue bonds with higher yields (but not higher spreads).⁵⁷
- The debt-to-export ratio and inflation volatility—both of which indicate higher levels of domestic risk factors—also tend to lead to higher spreads and yields. On the other hand, there is some (weak) evidence that government balances help to reduce sovereign borrowing costs.

⁵⁴ A decrease in POLRISK and FINRISK indicates higher risk.

⁵⁵ Reis (2013) discusses how financial openness combined with limited depth in financial markets can have destabilizing effects on the macro economy through the misallocation of capital inflows which lead to reallocation of resources from the tradable to the nontradable sector. Mendoza (2006) describes how this process may create the conditions for a future sudden stop.

⁵⁶ Actual growth, on the other hand, seems to be associated with higher borrowing costs, especially spreads, but the evidence is weak for spreads and very weak for yields. In both cases, this effect does not typically survive the search routine, and it does not seem to come from emerging-market economies. One possible explanation why expected growth reduces borrowing costs and actual growth increases them is that what really matters is the expected *acceleration* of growth.

⁵⁷ Given the high correlation between these two variables, and the similar absolute value of their estimated coefficients, which have opposite signs, the net effect of these two variables is close to zero as confirmed by Wald tests. When the search routine is used—see results in columns 26–29 of Tables 14(a)–(b)—only the negative effect of size on yields remains significant.

- During IMF programs, when countries are likely experiencing financial or economic distress, borrowing costs are higher, especially spreads.
- In the specifications that rely on global variables to control for common factors across countries, monetary policy tightening in the U.S., especially if unanticipated, is associated with higher spreads but not higher yields.
- Increases in the volatility of markets (VIX) and of oil prices correlate with higher borrowing costs. That is not the case for the volatility of world GDP.

96. All these considerations are robust to estimations restricted to a subsample of emerging-market economies, as in the original paper by CP (2006).⁵⁸

E. Summary

97. The results reported in this section do not support the hypothesis that the SDDS and GDDS initiatives help to reduce sovereign borrowing costs. Although the original results reported in CP (2006) are largely robust to placebo tests—false positives before subscription are rare and/or tend to occur within two quarters of the true subscription dates—they are not robust to (i) the introduction of period fixed effects to control for common factors affecting all countries; (ii) changes in the treatment of missing observations needed to remove distortions in the data on yields and spreads (see subsection V.B); or (iii) estimations of a modified version of the original model that features a different set of explanatory variables and a larger and updated panel data sample (both more recent periods and additional countries).

VI. EVENT STUDIES

98. This section discusses the results of "event studies" used as an alternative approach to identify the effect of participation in IMF data standards on (gross) FDI flows, exchange rate volatility, and sovereign borrowing costs. The econometric strategies discussed in the previous three sections rely on the implicit assumption that a country's decision to subscribe to IMF data standards is strictly exogenous, independent of any attribute or characteristic of that country. But if the decision is not orthogonal to a set of characteristics of the subscribing country—including the state of the country's economy—a selection bias may invalidate any attempt at statistical inference on the estimated effect of data standards on the variables of interest. That effect, under these circumstances, can be overstated.

⁵⁸ Results are available from the authors upon request.

				Country F	Fixed Effects					Currenc	cy-Count	ry Fixed	dEffects			Parsimoni	ous Mode	I	
			Period F	xed Effects			Global Co	ntrol Vari	ables	Period Fixed effects				(sear	rch routine with	10% sigr	ificanc	e)	
Model	Restricte	ed Model	Policy and E	Bond Features	Full Set o	fVariables	Full Set	of Variat	oles	Fι	ull Set of	Variab	les	Pe	riod Fix	ed Effects	Global C	Control	Variables
	OLS	GMM	OLS	GMM	OLS	GMM	OLS	GN	ΛM	OL	S	GM	1M	0	LS	GMM	OLS		GMM
Variable	Coet. prob.	Coet. prob.	Coet. prob.	Coet. prob.	Coef. prob.	Coef. prob.	Coet. proc	. Coet.	prop.	Coef.	prop.	Coet.	prob.	Coef.	prop.	Coet. prob.	Coet. p	rob. C	coet. prob.
С	5.93 0.00	5.93 0.00	9.15 0.00	9.15 0.00	2.77 0.28	8 -1.31 0.59	3.57 0.2	4 4.33	0.15	3.85	0.09	3.22	0.27	6.01	0.00	4.17 0.00	5.39	0.00	<mark>5.46 0.00</mark>
GDDS	-0.02 0.87	-0.02 0.87	-0.11 0.51	-0.11 0.51	0.02 0.88	0.09 0.64	0.03 0.8	4 -0.01	0.96	-0.04	0.78	-0.02	0.912						
SDDS	-0.03 0.80	-0.03 0.80	-0.21 0.11	-0.21 0.11	0.03 0.75	0.06 0.60	-0.10 0.2	1 -0.11	0.15	0.00	0.97	0.03	0.77						
US\$ denominated bond (*)	0.57 0.00	0.57 0.00	0.59 0.00	0.59 0.00	0.31 0.04	0.28 0.10	0.26 0.0	3 0.23	0.04					0.71	0.00	0.22 0.00	0.43	0.00 (<mark>0.44 0.00</mark>
Euro denominated bond (*)	0.18 0.11	0.18 0.11	0.19 0.36	0.19 0.36	0.08 0.60	0.01 0.97	0.02 0.8	9 -0.01	0.92					0.45	0.00				
LOG(maturity) (*)			0.01 0.88	0.01 0.88	0.04 0.37	0.01 0.87	0.04 0.4	1 0.05	0.25	0.06	0.17	0.06	0.26						
LOG(benchmark yield)			-0.20 0.13	-0.20 0.13	0.10 0.3	0.15 0.17	0.09 0.2	9 0.11	0.13	0.20	0.03	0.25	0.01			0.15 0.00			
POLRISK (*)			-0.02 0.01	-0.02 0.01	-0.02 0.00	<mark>) -0.02 0.01</mark>	-0.02 0.0	0 -0.02	0.00	<mark>-0.02</mark>	0.00	-0.02	0.00	-0.02	0.00	-0.01 0.01	-0.01	0.01 -(0.01 0.01
FINRISK (*)			-0.02 0.03	<mark>-0.02 0.03</mark>	-0.03 0.00	<mark>-0.03 0.01</mark>	-0.04 0.0	0 -0.04	0.00	<mark>-0.03</mark>	0.00	-0.03	0.00	-0.03	0.00	-0.03 0.00	-0.03	0.00 -(0.03 0.00
FINOPEN			0.03 0.58	0.03 0.58	0.07 0.07	0.04 0.47	0.08 0.0	6 0.08	0.04	0.07	0.09	0.06	0.30			0.07 0.03			
FINDEPTH			0.00 0.97	0.00 0.97	0.00 0.75	0.00 0.42	0.00 0.6	8 0.00	0.65	0.00	0.72	0.00	0.40						
OUTGAP					-4.37 0.00	<mark>-5.05 0.00</mark>	-3.14 0.0	0 -3.12	0.00	<mark>-3.82</mark>	0.00	-4.47	0.00	<mark>-3.31</mark>	0.00	-3.05 0.00	-2.53	0.00 -2	<mark>2.43 0.01</mark>
GDP GROWTH (*)					0.01 0.00	0.02 0.17	0.00 0.6	3 0.00	0.66	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.06	0.01	0.09				
5-Y Growth Forecast					-0.03 0.35	5 -0.11 0.07	-0.03 0.4	2 <mark>-0.06</mark>	0.09	-0.04	0.11	-0.12	0.01			-0.07 0.02			
LOG(Debt-to-Export ratio) (*)					0.38 0.00	0.28 0.10 0.28 0.10	0.23 0.0	2 0.20	<u>0.04</u>	0.36	0.00	0.38	0.01	0.37	0.00	0.33 0.00	0.27	0.00 (0.27 0.00
LOG(stdev inflation)					0.07 0.07	0.18 0.05	0.09 0.0	0 0.13	0.00	0.08	0.00	0.16	0.02			0.08 0.00	0.04	0.05 (0.06 0.02
Gov. Balance / GDP (*)					-0.01 0.13	-0.03 0.32	-0.01 0.3	1 0.00	0.62	-0.01	0.17	-0.02	0.38			-0.02 0.06	-0.02	0.03 -(0.02 0.05
Inflation Differencial (*)					-0.07 0.54	-1.08 0.42	0.01 0.6	5 -0.01	0.84	-0.04	0.65	-0.48	0.55						
RELATIVE PER CAPITA GD	Р				0.65 0.36	0.86 0.34	-0.50 0.5	4 -0.68	0.37	0.10	0.90	0.53	0.57						
RELSIZE					-0.99 0.23	3 -1.16 0.27	-0.46 0.6	3 -0.24	0.79	-0.29	0.73	-0.50	0.63						
IMF program (*)					0.13 0.01	0.20 0.02	0.10 0.0	4 0.15	0.03	0.10	0.04	0.16	0.05	0.14	0.03	0.22 0.00	0.15	0.01 (0.22 0.01
A Fad Funda Data (FFD)							0.40 0.0	0 0 4 0	0.00										
							-0.10 0.0	2 -0.10	0.02										
							0.74 0.0	4 0.64	0.06								0.50	0.00	<u> </u>
							0.47 0.0	0 0.51	0.00								0.53	0.00 (0.53 0.00
LOG(stdev OIL prices)	- 1						0.15 0.0	5 0.15 0 0.01	0.03										
LOG(staev world GDP growt	1)						0.01 0.6	6 0.01	0.67										
@IREND							0.00 0.5	9 0.00	0.40										
Periods	80	80	80	80	77	76	70	70		77		76		78		78	78		78
Cross-sections	109	109	97	97	83	83	82	82		83		83		93		88	90		90
Observations	682	682	581	581	488	484	472	469		488		484		583		525	546		544
Adj. R ²	0.67	0.67	0.73	0.73	0.84	0.79	0.81	0.80		0.85		0.84		0.76		0.83	0.70	(0.70
Normality: No. of countries	95	95	86	86	76	71	70	72		73		75		83		77	76		76

Table 14(b). Estimation Results—Yields																				
				Country F	ixed Effec	cts				Currenc	y-Countr	y Fixed	Effects			Parsimoni	ous Model			
			Period F	ixed Effects				Global Contr	ol Variables	Pe	riod Fix	ed effec	ts		(sea	arch routine with	h 10% sign	ificance	e)	
Model	Restricte	ed Model	Policy and Bo	ond Features	Full S	Set of V	ariables	Full Set of	Variables	- Full Set of Variables		Peri	od Fixe	ed Effects	Global	Contro	l Variables	s		
	OLS	GMM	OLS	GMM	OLS	OLS GMM			GMM	OL	S	GM	IM	OL	S	GMM	OLS	5	GMM	- 1.
Variable	Coet. prob.	Coef. prob.	Coef. prob.	Coet. prob.	Coet. µ	orob.	Coet. prob.	Coet. prob.	Coet. prob.	Coef.	prob.	Coet.	prob.	Coef.	prob.	Coet. prob.	Coef. µ	orob.	Coet. pro	D.
С	1.89 0.00	1.89 0.00	0.60 0.02	0.60 0.02	-1.68	0.08	-1.39 0.22	-1.60 0.10	-1.50 0.13	0.60	0.48	0.55	0.61	-2.13	0.01	<mark>-1.79 0.06</mark>	-2.22	0.00	<mark>-2.11 0</mark> .	. <mark>00</mark>
GDDS	0.12 0.10	0.12 0.10	0.02 0.71	0.02 0.71	0.04	0.48	0.04 0.53	0.05 0.36	0.04 0.41	0.02	0.76	0.02	0.73							
SDDS	0.02 0.79	0.02 0.79	-0.04 0.33	-0.04 0.33	0.03	0.46	0.05 0.23	-0.01 0.63	-0.02 0.42	0.03	0.52	0.05	0.28							
US\$ denominated bond (*)	0.36 0.00	0.36 0.00	0.31 0.00	0.31 0.00	0.31	0.00	0.31 0.00	0.32 0.00	0.32 0.00					0.30	0.00	0.30 0.00	0.31	0.00	0.31 0.	.00
Euro denominated bond (*)	0.31 0.00	0.31 0.00	0.20 0.00	0.20 0.00	0.19	0.00	0.18 0.00	0.20 0.00	0.20 0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.04	0.19	0.00	0.19 0.00	0.21	0.00	0.20 0.	.00
LOG(maturity) (*)			0.04 0.04	0.04 0.04	0.05	0.00	0.06 0.01	0.04 0.05	0.04 0.01	0.06	0.00	0.06	0.01	0.05	0.00	0.06 0.00	0.00	0.00	0.04 0.	02
LOG(benchmark yield)			0.35 0.00	0.35 0.00	0.39	0.00	0.40 0.00	0.37 0.00	0.38 0.00	0.26	0.00	0.27	0.00	0.39	0.00	0.40 0.00	0.38	0.00	0.37 0.	00
			-0.01 0.00	-0.01 0.00	-0.005	0.02	-0.01 0.03	-0.004 0.10	0.00 0.04	-0.01	0.01	-0.01	0.02	-0.01	0.01	-0.01 0.01	0.04	0.00	0.004 0.	03
			-0.01 0.00	-0.01 0.00	-0.01	0.00	-0.01 0.01	-0.01 0.00	-0.01 0.00	-0.01	0.00	-0.01	0.00	-0.01	0.00	-0.01 0.01	-0.01	0.00	-0.01 0.	00
			0.00 0.90	0.00 0.90	0.02	0.24	0.01 0.36	0.01 0.30	0.01 0.20	0.02	0.24	0.01	0.42	0.004	0.00	0.004 0.00	0.004	0.00	0.003 0	01
			-0.003 0.00	-0.003 0.00	-0.004	0.00 -	-1.52 0.00	-0.004 0.00	-1.60, 0.00	-0.01	0.00	-0.01	0.00	-0.004	0.00	-1.23 0.00	-0.004	0.00	-1.36 0	00
					0.00	0.00	0.01 0.17	0.00 0.53		0.01	0.00	0.01	0.00	-1.20	0.00	-1.20 0.00	-1.52	0.00	-1.00 0.	00
5-Y Growth Forecast					-0.01	0.19	-0.04 0.05	-0.01 0.43	-0.01 0.25	-0.01	0.24	-0.04	0.00			-0.03 0.04				
LOG(Debt-to-Export ratio) (*)				0.01	0.00	0.14 0.01	0.09 0.02	0.09 0.02	0.01	0.00	0.14	0.01	0 14	0.00	0.13 0.00	0.13	0.00	0 12 0	00
LOG(stdev inflation)	/				0.01	0.11	0.04 0.10	0.02 0.09	0.03 0.00	0.01	0.34	0.04	0.05	••••	0.00	0.03 0.01	00	0.00	0.02 0.	.06
Gov. Balance / GDP (*)					0.00	0.14	-0.01 0.24	0.00 0.25	0.00 0.43	0.00	0.15	-0.01	0.20				-0.01	0.01		
Inflation Differencial (*)					-0.05	0.27	-0.23 0.46	-0.01 0.23	-0.02 0.03	-0.05	0.22	-0.30	0.32							
RELATIVE PER CAPITA GE)P				0.47	0.07	0.42 0.20	0.10 0.71	0.09 0.72	0.21	0.45	0.21	0.59	0.47	0.06	0.51 0.06				
RELSIZE					-0.50	0.10	-0.38 0.31	-0.41 0.17	-0.38 0.20	-0.05	0.87	0.04	0.93	-0.61	0.03	-0.58 0.05	-0.37	0.00	-0.34 0.	.01
IMF program (*)					0.03	0.17	0.07 0.02	0.01 0.44	0.05 0.06	0.03	0.12	0.07	0.04			0.08 0.01			0.06 0.	. <mark>03</mark>
Δ Fed Funds Rate (FFR) Surprises in FFR								0.00 0.97 -0.13 0.37	0.01 0.70 -0.16 0.23											
LOG(VIX)								0.15 0.00	0.18 0.00								0.11	0.00	0.14 0.	.00
LOG(stdev OIL prices)								0.08 0.01	0.09 0.00								0.07	0.00	0.09 0.	.00
LOG(stdev World GDP grow	th)							0.01 0.57	0.01 0.44											
@TREND								0.00 0.02	0.00 0.02										0.00 0.	. <mark>02</mark>
Periods	95	95	84	84	81		80	74	74	81		80		83		81	84		82	
Cross-sections	135	135	98	98	84		84	83	83	84		84		85		84	85		84	
Observations	1210	1210	623	623	529		525	513	510	529		525		535		527	541		535	
Adj. R ²	0.49	0.49	0.79	0.79	0.87		0.86	0.85	0.85	0.88		0.86		0.87		0.86	0.85		0.85	
Normality: No. of countries	114	114	95	95	76		76	73	76	77		74		77		79	72		76	

Source: Authors' calculations. Note: (*) indicates that the same or similar series were used in CP (2006); *p*-values computed using robust standard errors (cross-section clustering).

99. More generally, a reason to complement the econometric analysis with event studies is that, despite our efforts to control for the effects of other factors (i.e., aside from SDDS/GDDS subscription or use of the Reserve Template), it is not completely guaranteed that panel regressions such as those used in the previous sections can replicate a random experiment closely enough for statistical inference to be appropriately carried out.

Event studies give up the notion of simulating a random experiment. They focus only 100. on situations where the variable of interest, z, is observed both before and after the relevant event, k, which supposedly affects z. To isolate the effect of k on z, the analysis is limited to a sufficiently narrow "event window" [t_0 -s, t_0 +s], around the time of the event's occurrence, t_0 . The window s needs to be short enough such that the importance of other factors affecting zis negligible relative to the importance of the event itself. On the other hand, a very short window may preclude a proper identification of the effect of the event in case it takes time to materialize.

101.	In analyzing the effect of IMF data standards, we consider three cases:

			Data	
	Event (k)	Variable of Interest (z)	Frequency	Event Windows (s)
Case 1	SDDS	Gross FDI (% GDP)	Quarterly	1, 2, 4, 8
Case 2	Reserve Template	Exchange Rate Volatility	Monthly	3, 6, 12, 24
Case 3	SDDS, GDDS	Sovereign Yields, Spreads	Quarterly	1, 2, 4, 8

102. In particular, we estimate the following regression:

$$z_{it} = \beta + \alpha_i + \eta_t + \lambda k_{it} + \varepsilon_{it}, \qquad (6)$$

where z_{it} is the variable of interest—gross FDI inflows (in percent of GDP), the volatility of the nominal exchange rate (monthly standard deviation from daily data, in logs), or sovereign borrowing costs on new bond issuances (both yields and spreads); β is a constant; α_i and η_t are country-specific and period fixed effects, respectively; k_{it} is a dummy variable indicating whether country *i*, has received the "treatment" (subscription to IMF data standards or use of the Reserve Template) by time *t*, and ε_{it} is an error term.

The parameter of interest is λ . As a way to compromise between using a short or a 103. long event window, we (i) present results for different windows (one quarter, half year, one year, and two years), and (ii) estimate a modified version of equation (6) in which the period fixed effects are replaced by a vector of global control variables, Ψ_{it} :⁵⁹

$$z_{it} = \beta + \alpha_i + \theta \Psi_{it} + \lambda k_{it} + \varepsilon_{it}.$$
 (7)

⁵⁹ Vector Ψ_{it} includes variables to capture global liquidity conditions (actual and unanticipated change in U.S. short-term interest rates) and global risk (VIX index of market volatility). See Annex 1 for details. When estimating equations (6) and (7) for Case 2, the vector of control variables also includes dummy variables for fixed, pure floating, and dirty floating exchange rate regimes (relative to the U.S. dollar). In estimations associated with Case 3, bond characteristics-notional amount, maturity, and dummy variables for currency denomination-were also included as controls. The complete results are available upon request.

104. Table 15 shows the estimated values of λ (along with associated *p*-values) in equations (6) and (7) applied to case studies 1–3. The results suggest that:

- Meeting the criteria for SDDS subscription does not have a discernible positive effect on FDI inflows, regardless of the time window around the treatment date or of the specification used: estimated coefficients do not always show the expected positive sign and are never statistically significant.
- The use of the Reserves Template does not reduce exchange rate volatility: the estimated coefficient on RT is always *positive*, regardless of the window and specification. When using period fixed effects, these coefficients are never statistically significant, but when global control variables are used to account for common factors possibly affecting all countries simultaneously, the positive effect on volatility becomes statistically significant in the case of longer time windows (half-year, one-year and two-year windows).⁶⁰
- Subscription to the SDDS does not produce any statistically significant effect on sovereign spreads or yields of newly issued bonds: estimated coefficients typically show the wrong (positive) sign and are not statistically significant, except for the shortest window (one quarter), when the estimated coefficient of SDDS indicates a statistical significant *increase* in sovereign borrowing costs.⁶¹

105. In summary, the results of the event studies discussed in this section are consistent with our conclusions from the three previous sections and provide additional support for skepticism regarding the benign effects of subscription to IMF data standards on FDI flows, exchange rate volatility, and sovereign borrowing costs reported by IMF research.

VII. ASSESSMENT AND CONCLUSIONS

106. The IMF's data dissemination initiatives are designed with a view to help countries improve their statistics dissemination practices. In doing so, they are expected to increase transparency about the macroeconomic and financial situation of participating countries and reduce noise-to-signal ratios for investors. Some IMF research suggests that this channel can significantly affect a country's FDI inflows, exchange rate volatility, and sovereign

⁶⁰ For Case 2, however, it is reasonable to think that a shorter event window is the most appropriate, given the higher-frequency nature of the daily movements in exchange rate that were used to construct the monthly volatility measure (standard deviation). Longer time windows more likely allow other factors, especially when imperfectly captured by global control variables, to be at play. That may explain the statistical significance of the positive effect of RT on exchange volatility based on the estimation of (7) for the longer time windows.

⁶¹ The positive and significant estimated effect of SDDS on spreads within a one-quarter window is driven by bond issuances from one country (Israel), which, given the small sample available, accounts for half of the observations. Removing that country from the sample makes the estimated RT effect no longer significant. For yields, a similar situation occurs with three countries: removing Israel, Argentina, and Sweden—which account for 60 percent of the small sample—makes the effect of RT in the estimation of (7) for the shortest window no longer significant.

borrowing costs. These findings presumably validate the IMF's efforts to support and allocate its limited resources to data dissemination initiatives, rather than to other successful initiatives within its Statistics Department that compete for the same pool of resources. They also act as a motivation for IMF member countries to invest in their data dissemination practices aiming at meeting the subscription requirements of these initiatives.

Table 15. Event Studies Estimated Values of λ												
			Case 1	: SDDS and Gross	FDI Inflow	s (% of GDP)						
	80	Quarters	4 0	Quarters	2 0	Quarters	10	Quarter				
	Period FE	Global Controls	Period FE	Global Controls	Period FE	Global Controls	Period FE	Global Controls				
SDDS	0.42	0.51	0.09	0.48	-0.29	0.57	-0.76	1.61				
p-value	0.27	0.22	0.84	0.33	0.55	0.42	0.36	0.35				
Obs	937	937	501	501	278	278	167	167				
Cross-sections	58	58	57	57	56	56	56	56				
Adj. R ²	0.81	0.77	0.86	0.71	0.98	0.55	0.99	0.59				
				Case 2: Exchang	ge Rate Vola	tility						
	24	Months	12	Months	6	Months	3 1	Months				
Treatment	Period FE	Global Controls	Period FE	Global Controls	Period FE	Global Controls	Period FE	Global Controls				
RT	0.10	0.08	0.03	0.10	0.01	0.09	0.01	0.04				
p-value	0.17	0.09	0.55	0.00	0.90	0.01	0.91	0.32				
Obs	2760	2760	1414	1414	739	739	399	399				
Cross-sections	58	58	58	58	57	57	57	57				
Adj. R ²	0.83	0.81	0.89	0.87	0.91	0.88	0.94	0.90				
				Case 3: Spread	s (basis poi	nts)						
	8 0	Quarters	4 (Quarters	2 (Quarters	10	Quarter				
Treatment	Period FE	Global Controls	Period FE	Global Controls	Period FE	Global Controls	Period FE	Global Controls				
SDDS	0.17	0.20	0.37	0.11	0.54	0.17	1.04	1.27				
p-value	0.67	0.26	0.28	0.60	0.24	0.56	0.04	0.01				
Obs	358	358	269	269	150	150	85	85				
Cross-sections	22	22	19	19	15	15	6	6				
Adj. R ²	0.62	0.61	0.68	0.67	0.67	0.67	0.74	0.70				
				Case 3: Yields	s (% per yea	r)						
	8 0	Quarters	4 (Quarters	2 (Quarters	10	Quarter				
Treatment	Period FE	Global Controls	Period FE	Global Controls	Period FE	Global Controls	Period FE	Global Controls				
SDDS	-0.04	-0.02	0.10	0.02	0.14	0.04	0.25	0.19				
p-value	0.27	0.71	0.40	0.75	0.24	0.42	0.13	0.01				
Obs	463	463	320	320	177	177	91	91				
Cross-sections	25	25	21	21	17	17	6	6				
Adj. R ²	0.65	0.66	0.65	0.62	0.71	0.69	0.70	0.69				
Source: Authors	s' calculatio	ns.			L							

107. In this paper, we tested the robustness of IMF research findings regarding the effects of the data standards initiatives on inflows of foreign direct investment; exchange rate volatility; and spreads on sovereign bonds. First, we failed to confirm a positive correlation between participation in the data standards initiatives and an increase in transparency related to availability of information. Since this is the main proposed channel of transmission of the

effects of subscription to data standards initiatives on investor decisions, our finding weakens the main thesis of the IMF studies that have tried to establish a link between the data initiatives and beneficial outcomes in terms of access to capital markets and exchange rate volatility.

108. Moreover, we found that the positive effects that these studies have reported on FDI inflows—a 60 percent increase after countries meet the requirements to subscribe to SDDS— are based on inadequate methodology or data, or both. When shortcomings in the methodology are corrected and more plausible transformations of the data are used—even when we rely on the original (raw) dataset and model used in the IMF research—the result no longer holds.

109. We also found that the effect of the RT on exchange rate volatility was not properly measured in IMF research. Regardless of how sound the econometric strategy of the IMF study was (which, incidentally, is up for debate), its findings are based on a misinterpretation of the results. More specifically, the IMF researchers only considered the direct effect of RT implied by their estimates, neglecting the indirect effects also featured in their model. Using their own data, once we account for these indirect effects or re-estimate the underlying model without assuming indirect effects, the results indicate no statistically significant effect of RT on exchange rate volatility. Our series of alternative models—applied to an updated dataset that includes more recent periods and additional countries—also fail to capture any negative effect of RT on exchange rate volatility.

110. Finally, robustness tests implemented on the same dataset and model used by the IMF researchers, as well as our own estimations using different setups applied to an extended and updated sample, call into question the conclusion that SDDS/GDDS participation reduces sovereign borrowing costs. Both exercises indicate that correcting the distortions introduced by the IMF's analysis into the data on bond spreads and yields, and controlling for the effect of common factors that could potentially affect borrowing costs in all countries regardless of SDDS/GDDS participation, is enough to cast serious doubts on the findings. Thus, contrary to the original results by the IMF researchers, our results do not suggest that data initiatives have any negative and statistically significant effect on the borrowing cost for subscribing countries to tap international sovereign bond markets.

111. The lack of robustness of the effects of IMF data standards on the selected variables is confirmed by event study analyses.

112. In conclusion, the beneficial effects of IMF data standards initiatives on FDI inflows, exchange rate volatility, and sovereign borrowing costs, reported in three IMF research papers publicly available and used to advertise the benefits of such data initiatives, do not seem to survive simple robustness checks based on a "cleaning" and updating of the data, nor slight modifications to the underlying econometric strategies originally used by IMF researchers.

113. It should be stressed that our findings have no implications for other potential benefits associated with the IMF data standards initiatives. IEO (2016), for example, reports on the positive impacts of these initiatives on data quality and on how third parties perceive national data disseminated through the initiatives.

REFERENCES

- Agosin, M. R., and F. Huaita, 2012, "Overreaction in Capital Flows to Emerging Markets: Booms and Sudden Stops," *Journal of International Money and Finance* 31: 1140–55.
- Beck, Thorsten, Asli Demirgüç-Kunt, and Ross Levine, 2000, "A New Database on the Structure and Development of the Financial Sector," *World Bank Economic Review* 14 (3): 597–605.
 - _____, 2009, "Financial Institutions and Markets across Countries and over Time: Data and Analysis," Working Paper WPS4943, Development Research Group Finance and Private Sector Team (Washington: World Bank), May.
- Brandão-Marques, L., G. Gelos, and N. Melga, 2013, "Country Transparency and the Global Transmission of Financial Shocks," IMF Working Paper 13/156 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Breitung, J., 2000, "The local power of some unit root tests for panel data," in B. H. Baltagi, ed.,"Nonstationary Panels, Panel Cointegration, and Dynamic Panels," Advances in Econometrics 15: 161–178.
- Cady, J., and A. J. Pellechio, 2006, "Sovereign Borrowing Cost and the IMF's Data Standards Initiatives," IMF Working Paper 06/78 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Cady, J., and J. Gonzalez-Garcia, 2007, "Exchange rate volatility and reserves transparency," *IMF Staff Papers* 54: 741–754.
- Chinn, Menzie D., and Hiro Ito, 2006, "What Matters for Financial Development? Capital Controls, Institutions, and Interactions," *Journal of Development Economics* 81 (1): 163–192 (October).
- _____, 2008, "A New Measure of Financial Openness," *Journal of Comparative Policy Analysis* 10 (3): 309–322 (September).
- Choi, In, 2001, "Unit Root Tests for Panel Data," *Journal of International Money and Finance* 20: 249–272.
- de Las Casas, M., and C. Monasterski, 2016, "How Well is the IMF Doing on Data? Evidence From Surveys," IEO Background Document No. BD/16/01 (Washington: Independent Evaluation Office of the International Monetary Fund).
- Forbes, K. J., and F. E. Warnock, 2012, "Capital Flow Waves: Surges, Stops, Flight, and Retrenchment," *Journal of International Economics* 88: 235–50.

- Fratzscher, M., 2012, "Capital Flows, Push Versus Pull Factors and the Global Financial Crisis," *Journal of International Economics* 88: 341–56.
- Hamilton, J. D., 1994, Time Series Analysis, Princeton University Press.
- Hashimoto, Y., and K. M. Wacker, 2012, "The Role of Risk and Information for International Capital Flows: New Evidence from the SDDS," IMF Working Paper 12/242 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Im, Kyung-So, M. Hasem Pesaran, and Yongcheol Shin, 2003, "Testing for Unit Roots in Heterogeneous Panels," *Journal of Econometrics* 115: 53–74.
- Independent Evaluation Office of the International Monetary Fund (IEO), 2016, "Behind the Scenes with Data at the IMF: An IEO Evaluation" (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Institute of International Finance (IIF), 2015, "Principles for Stable Capital Flows and Fair Debt Restructuring – Report on Implementation by the Principles Consultative Group." (Washington: IIF).
- International Monetary Fund (IMF), 2013, "External Balance Assessment (EBA) Methodology: Technical Background," IMF Research Department. (Washington: IMF).

——, 2011, "International Capital Flows: Reliable or Fickle?" *World Economic Outlook*, April: 125–162. (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Karlsson, S., and M. Löthgren, 2000, "On the power and interpretation of panel unit root tests," *Economics Letters* 66 (3): 249–55.
- Lane, P. R., and G. M. Milesi-Ferretti, 2012, "External Adjustment and the Global Crisis," Journal of International Economics 88: 252–65.
- Levin, Andrew, Chien-Fu Lin, and James Chu, 2002, "Unit root tests in panel data: Asymptotic and finite-sample properties," *Journal of Econometrics* 108 (1):1–24.
- Levy-Yeyati, Eduardo, and Federico Sturzenegger, 2005, "Classifying Exchange Rate Regimes: Deeds vs. Words," *European Economic Review* 49 (6): 1603–1635.
- Maddala, G. S., and Shaowen Wu, 1999, "A Comparative Study of Unit Root Tests with Panel Data and a New Simple Test," *Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics* 61 (S1): 631–652.
- Mendoza, Enrique G., 2006, "Lessons from the Debt-Deflation Theory of Sudden Stops," *American Economic Review* 96 (2): 411–416.

- Milesi-Ferretti, G. M., and C. Tille, 2011, "The Great Retrenchment: International Capital Flows During the Global Financial Crisis," *Economic Policy* 26(66): 285–342.
- Reis, R., 2013, "The Portuguese Slump and Crash and the Euro Crisis," *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, Spring: 143–210.

ANNEX 1. DATA

This annex describes the data and sample used in the paper.

1. Series used in Section II (annual frequency)

- *FDI*: calculated using FDI flows (*WEO* or *IFS*) as percentage of GDP in U.S. dollars (*WEO*).
- SDDS: dummy variable constructed using the subscription dates, which are available on the IMF's website at http://dsbb.imf.org/Pages/SDDS/Home.aspx
- Change in short-term U.S. interest rates: first-difference in the principal component of the Federal Funds Rate and the rates of three-month Treasury Bill (available in the *IFS* repository), in percent per year).
- Global risk: principal component of the VIX—market volatility index published by the Chicago Board Options Exchange—and TED spreads (in percentage points).¹
- World real GDP growth: year-over-year rate of growth of the world GDP (from *WEO* or *IFS*; in percent per year).
- World FDI/GDP: for each country *i*, it is the sum of FDI inflows across countries, excluding country *i*, in percent of the cross-country sum of nominal GDP in US dollars, also excluding *i*.
- FINDEPTH: ratio of domestic liquid liabilities to GDP from the dataset in Beck, Demirgüç-Kunt, and Levine (2000 and 2009), and updated to November 2013.
- FINOPEN: de jure index of financial openness from Chinn and Ito (2006, 2008, 2011).
- FINEXPOUS: constructed following *WEO* (2011, p. 156) as country *i*'s sum of U.S. asset holdings and liabilities to the U.S.—including securities, bank loans, and assets and liabilities of non-banking enterprises—as a share of the sum of its total international external asset and liability positions. Data on assets and liabilities are from the *IFS*.
- RESCUR: average share (over the sample period) of world foreign exchange reserves held in country *i*'s currency, obtained from the IMF's Currency Composition of Official Foreign Exchange Reserves (COFER) database, normalized by the U.S. dollar share.
- TRADEOPEN: sum of imports and exports as percentage of GDP (from *WEO* and *IFS*), expressed in deviations from its cross-country GDP weighted average, to correct for a unit root.
- POLRISK: index of political risk published by the International Country Risk Guide (ICRG). Higher scores indicate lower risk.

¹ The difference between the three-month T-bill interest rate and the three-month London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR), computed by the Chicago Mercantile Exchange.

- INV/GDP: investment as percentage of GDP (*WEO*, *IFS*).
- Five-year-ahead growth forecasts: *WEO* forecasts of real GDP growth (in percent per year).
- Relative per capita GDP: relative per capita GDP in U.S. dollars vis-à-vis the United States (*WEO*, *IFS*).
- Change in NFA position: first difference in net foreign asset positions (*WEO*, *IFS*), normalized by GDP, both in U.S. dollars.
- PPP-adjusted real exchange rate: computed as percent deviation from its HP-trend (*WEO*, *IFS*).
- Foreign exchange crisis dummy: takes the value of one if a country-year observation is identified as an "outlier" (see Annex 2) *and* the percentage change of the PPP-adjusted real exchange rate is both positive (i.e., a depreciation) and higher than two standard deviations from its mean.
- Dummy variables for exchange rate regimes: constructed using the Levy-Yeyati and Sturzenegger (2005) *de facto* three-way classification.

2. Series used in Section III (quarterly frequency, unless stated otherwise)

- Exchange rate volatility (*V*): standard deviation of the daily percentage change (first difference of the natural logarithm) in the nominal exchange rate (from *WEO* and *IFS*, in domestic currency per U.S. dollar) within a quarter.
- RT: dummy variable constructed using dates of countries' first use of the "Reserve Template," available at http://dsbb.imf.org/Pages/SDDS/ReserveTemplates.aspx.
- Indebtedness (*D*): annual gross government debt position or external debt stocks (both from *WEO*) as percentage of GDP in domestic (*IFS*)) or U.S. dollars (*WEO*), respectively. Because of panel unit roots, this series was detrended using its GDP-weighted cross-country average or an HP trend.
- Reserve adequacy (*RA*): quarterly series of foreign reserve holdings (*IFS*)) as percentage of the annual stocks of short-term external debt (*WEO*). When the latter data are not available, we use total external debt (*WEO*). The final series is expressed in logs.
- Volatility of benchmark currency: standard deviation of the monthly percent change, within a year, in the nominal exchange rate of country *i* against a currency of reference as defined in LYS (2005).
- Interest rate differential: difference between money market rates or the rate in threemonth government bonds relative to their counterparts in the United States (*WEO*, *IFS*).
- GDP growth: quarterly percent change in real GDP (*WEO*). When not available, we use the annual GDP rate, repeated every quarter.

- Inflation: annual rate of growth of the consumer price index (IFS).
- Volatility of money growth: standard deviation of month-to-month growth rates of broad money for the twelve-month period ending each quarter *(IFS)*.
- CA/GDP: Current account balance (*IFS*)) as a ratio to GDP (*IFS*).
- Δ (GOV. BAL/GDP): first difference in government balance (WEO) as percentage of GDP (IFS and WEO).
- The following series—available at annual frequency–are defined as in Section II and repeated in all quarters within a given year:
 - The dummy variables for exchange rate regimes, POLRISK, FINRISK, FINOPEN, and FINDEPTH.
- The following series are defined as in Section II, but computed using quarterly data:
 - TRADEOPEN, OUTPUT GAP.
- Federal Funds Rate (FFR): from the U.S. Federal Reserve, in percent per year.
- "Surprises" in FFR: we considered the change in the settlement price of futures contracts of Fed funds within one day after regular meetings of the Federal Open Market Committee (FOMC) as a proxy of unanticipated changes in the U.S. monetary policy rate (see *WEO*, 2011: 156–60).
- VIX: quarterly average of daily values of the market volatility index (CBOE).
- Volatility of oil prices: standard deviation (within a quarter) of daily oil prices (Haver Analytics).
- Volatility of world economic growth: standard deviation (within the past four quarters) of quarterly world real GDP growth *(WEO)*.
- 3. Series used in Section IV (quarterly frequency, unless stated otherwise)
- Bond characteristics (yields, spreads, maturity, benchmark yields, and currency denomination): from the *Bonds, Equities, and Loans* (BEL) database.
- SDDS and GDDS: dummy variables constructed using the subscription dates, which are available on the IMF's website at http://dsbb.imf.org/Pages/SDDS/Home.aspx.
- Federal Funds Rate (FFR), surprises in FFR, VIX, volatility of oil prices, and volatility of world economic growth: same as defined above.
- Debt-to-export ratio: from the World Bank's *Global Development Indicators*.
- Volatility of Inflation: standard deviation (within a quarter) of the monthly rate of consumer price inflation *(IFS)*.

- RELSIZE: relative GDP in U.S. dollars vis-à-vis the United States (*WEO*, *IFS*). Annual figures repeated every quarter within a year.
- IMF: dummy variable for participation in IMF-supported programs.
- The following series are as in Section III:
 - The dummy variables for exchange rate regimes, POLRISK, FINRISK, FINOPEN, FINDEPTH, OUTPUT GAP, GDP growth, GOV. BAL./GDP,
- The following series—available at annual frequency—are defined as in Section II and repeated in all quarters within a given year:
 - Relative per capita GDP: relative per capita GDP in U.S. dollars vis-à-vis the United States (*WEO*, *IFS*);
 - Five-year-ahead growth forecasts: WEO forecasts of real GDP growth (in percent per year).

Note on series computed as ratio to GDP at quarterly frequency:

For any variable Z that is mainly available at annual frequency, we proceed in six steps as follows: (i) compute its ratio to *annual* nominal GDP; (ii) repeat the annual Z-to-GDP ratios for every quarter within a given year; (iii) extract its HP-trend, HP(Z/GDP); (iv) multiply the cyclical part by the annual GDP to construct an estimate of the cyclical component, \hat{Z} , at quarterly frequency; (v) compute the ratio of \hat{Z} to *quarterly* GDP; (vi) add back the trend. The final series is then $\hat{Z}/\text{GDP}(q) + \text{HP}(Z/\text{GDP})$.

The quarterly series of GDP used in the above transformation is either in U.S. dollars or domestic currency depending on the unit of Z. In both cases, given that data for Z are annual, we compute an "annualized" moving sum of quarterly GDP such that annual GDP is equal to quarterly GDP at the fourth quarter:

$$GDP_t(q) = \sum_{i=0}^{3} GDP_{t-i}$$

ANNEX 2. DETECTION OF OUTLIERS

This annex describes the methodology used to detect outliers. For any variable Z_t the following regression is estimated *for each* country *i* (i.e., not in panel):

$$Z_{it} = c + e_{it}, \tag{A}$$

where *c* is a constant and e_{it} is an error term.

Based on the residuals from Equation (A), seven different "influence statistics"—measures of the effect of a single observation on the regression—are computed. These are described below. We exclude from the sample any observation that satisfies the definition of outlier on at least three criteria.

Influential Statistics

1) Leverage value, h_{it} : the diagonal element of the "hat matrix" (or projection matrix), which maps the vector of observed values to the vector of fitted values.¹ Absolute values of *hit* larger than 3/n, where *n* is the number of observations, are deemed influential.

2) *Studentized residual*: the estimated residual at observation *it* divided by an estimate of its standard deviation:

$$\bar{e}_{it} = \frac{\hat{e}_{it}}{s_{it}\sqrt{1 - h_{it}}},\tag{B}$$

where \hat{e}_{it} is the original residual from Equation (A) for observation *it*, s_{it} is the variance of the residuals that would have resulted had that observation not been included in the estimation, and h_{it} is the leverage value. Absolute values of \bar{e}_{it} higher than the critical value of the *t*-distribution with *n*-1 degrees of freedom are treated as outliers.²

3) *Dropped residual*: the residual for observation *i* had the equation been run without it. It follows a *t*-distribution with *n*-2 degrees of freedom.

4) Scaled studentized residual: computed by scaling \bar{e}_{it} by an estimate of the standard deviation of the regression fit:

¹ In a regression of the type Y=XB+ Σ —where Y is a $n \times 1$ vector containing n observations of the dependent variable, X is a $n \times k$ matrix of k regressors (including a constant term), B is a $k \times 1$ vector of coefficients, and Σ is a $k \times 1$ vector of regression errors—the vector of fitted values is given by \widehat{Y} =HY, where H=X (X'X)⁻¹X' is the hat matrix.

² The residual \bar{e}_{it} is also numerically identical to the *t*-statistic that would result from putting a dummy variable in the original equation, which is equal to one on that particular observation and zero elsewhere. Thus, it can be interpreted as a test for the significance of that observation. We considered 5 percent significance levels.

$$e_{it}^* = \left(\frac{h_{it}}{1 - h_{it}}\right)^{1/2} \bar{e}_{it}.$$
 (C)

Outliers are observations for which the absolute value of e_{it}^* are larger than $2(1/n)^{1/2}$.

5) *Cook's Distance:* a measure of the aggregate impact of each observation on the group of regression coefficients, as well as the group of fitted values:

$$C_{it} = \tilde{e}_{it}^{2} \left(\frac{h_{it}}{1 - h_{it}} \right), \tag{D}$$

where $\tilde{e}_{it} = \hat{e}_{it}/(\sigma_e\sqrt{1-h_{it}})$ is the "standardized residual", and σ_e is the standard error of the original regression (A). The cut-off for above which an observation is classified as an outlier is the critical value of the *F*-statistic with 1 and *n*-1 degrees of freedom in the numerator and denominator, respectively.

6) Covariance ratio: the ratio of the determinant of the covariance matrix of the coefficients from the original equation to the determinant of the covariance matrix from an equation without that observation. This statistic measure the impact of each observation on the variances (and standard errors) of the regression coefficients and their covariance coefficients. Values lower than 1 - (3/n) or greater than 1 + (3/n) are considered associated with outliers.

7) *DFBETAS*: the scaled difference in the estimated coefficients between the original equation and an equation estimated without that observation:

$$b_{it} = \frac{\hat{c} - \hat{c}(it)}{s_{it}\sqrt{var(\hat{c})}},\tag{4}$$

where \hat{c} is the estimated constant in (1), $\hat{c}(it)$ is that coefficient's estimate without observation *it* and *var*(\hat{c}) is the variance of \hat{c} . This measure assesses how much an observation has affected the estimated coefficient. Values larger than $2/\sqrt{n}$ are associated with outliers.